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Tuesday, September 4, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.

The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2012-0033, submitted by Enersource Hydro Mississauga Inc. on April 27th, 2012.

Enersource's application is for electricity distribution rates and other charges to be set for January 1st, 2013 and January 1st, 2014.  The Board is sitting today to hear oral testimony.

My name is Cynthia Chaplin.  I will be presiding in this hearing, and joining me on the Panel are Board members Ms. Paula Conboy and Ms. Christine Long.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Conboy, Ms. Long.  George Vegh, counsel for the applicant, and I'm joined by Bill Killeen on my right, regulatory affairs advisor for the applicant.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good morning.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for Energy Probe.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

MR. CROCKER:  David Crocker, with Shelley Grice, for AMPCO.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, Board Staff, and with me I have Violet Binette, case manager with Board Staff, Donna Kwan, and Leila Azaiez.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.

MR. WARREN:  Let the record show that Mr. Shepherd is -- and his client are also counsel to this.  I have no instructions, but as a matter of courtesy, I will enter an appearance, and if I'm doing something wrong, then the Law Society will tell me that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

As the Board has indicated, there are four days available for hearing testimony in this proceeding:  today, Thursday, September 6th, next Monday and Tuesday, September 10th and 11th.

The parties have developed a hearing plan, and we have that information, including an update for today.  And our understanding is that we will hear -- we will have cross-examination on Panel 1 by Consumers Council, Energy Probe, and Schools and, if there's time available, then Board Staff and AMPCO are prepared to go ahead.

But in any event, this panel needs to return on Thursday, I understand, for cross-examination from VECC.  Is that...  Sounds like -- okay?

Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?

MR. VEGH:  None for the applicant, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  All right, Mr. Vegh.  Would you like to proceed?

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, I have just one minor point.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry.  Yes, Mr. Crocker?  Perhaps you could turn on your microphone, please.

MR. CROCKER:  It's on.  It's on.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  It was recently on as well, or at least the light said it was on.

I am not available for Tuesday.  I was living in this dream world where I thought the hearing was Monday, Thursday, Friday, Monday.  We don't have any cross-examination of the last two panels in any event, so it should not be a problem, but I wanted to let the Board know that I can't be here on Tuesday.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Vegh, whenever you're ready.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I don't have an opening statement, so I'd like to turn to the first witness panel, if I may.  The first witness panel, as you indicated, will address the issues of rate base, the incremental -- the ICR, and the modified international financial reporting standards.

Our panel is six people.  They overflow the panel box a bit, so the two gentlemen to my left are also on the panel.  I'd ask that they be sworn and then introduced for the record.
ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA - PANEL 1

Gia DeJulio, Sworn


James Macumber, Affirmed


Dan Pastoric, Sworn


Edlira Gjevori, Sworn


Doug Morrison, Sworn


Danny Nunes, Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I understand the witnesses have been sworn, and I will now ask them to introduce themselves for the record.  And the way I'd like to do this is to have each of the witnesses identify for the record their name, their title, the evidence upon which they are -- which they are responsible for, and confirm whether or not they adopt that evidence.  And of course, by "evidence" I'm referring to the pre-filed evidence, the transcripts of the technical conference, and all interrogatories.

So perhaps I'll start furthest to my left.

MS. DeJULIO:  Good morning.  My name is Gia DeJulio, and I am Enersource's director of regulatory affairs.  My responsibility for the evidence is specifically with respect to the incremental capital and return year 2014.

MR. MACUMBER:  James Macumber, vice-president --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, just to remind you, you share microphones, so -- thank you.

MS. DeJULIO:  Thank you.

MR. MACUMBER:  James Macumber, vice-president of finance.  I'm in charge of IFRS, general financial statement presentations, capital operating general financial statements.

MR. PASTORIC:  Good morning.  My name is Dan Pastoric.  I am the executive vice-president and chief operating officer at Mississauga hydro, or Hydro Mississauga.  And my discussion today will be on Enersource's performance.

MS. GJEVORI:  My name is Edlira Gjevori.  I'm capital manager with Enersource Corporation.  In this cost of service I'm responsible for the fixed-asset part of the rate base and IFRS impact pertaining to fixed assets.

MR. MORRISON:  My name is Doug Morrison.  I'm the director of customer operations for Enersource.  I'll be speaking to the asset management plan, capital projects for engineering and operations division, and service quality.

MR. NUNES:  My name is Danny Nunes.  I'm director of IT.  I'm responsible for all IT-related OM&A and capital.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, panel.  And one of the -- one of the areas to be confirmed is your adoption of the evidence in this proceeding.  So at the risk of also being disbarred like Mr. Warren, perhaps I'll ask the panel members a leading question, and even a negative-option question, and have them confirm that they do adopt the evidence that they are responsible for in this proceeding.

MS. DeJULIO:  I do adopt the evidence for which I'm responsible in this proceeding.

MR. MACUMBER:  I do adopt the evidence that I'm responsible for.

MR. PASTORIC:  I also adopt for what I'm responsible for.

MS. GJEVORI:  I also adopt the evidence I'm responsible for.

MR. MORRISON:  I also adopt the evidence I'm responsible for.

MR. NUNES:  And I too adopt the evidence I'm responsible for.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, panel.

Madam Chair, we had set aside some time for examination-in-chief.  Most of that time, the bulk of it, will be used for this panel as opposed to subsequent panels.  And there will be three areas we'll be -- where the witnesses will be providing some brief examination and some brief evidence in-chief, and I'll just identify them for you before taking the witnesses through it.

First, Mr. Pastoric will provide evidence on the measurement of Enersource's performance, and in particular relative to other utilities.

Ms. DeJulio will then provide evidence on the ICR or incremental capital return year.

And then Mr. Pastoric will provide evidence on the new building, which is the largest addition to rate base.

And if that's satisfactory, I'd like to proceed with Mr. Pastoric's evidence.

So Mr. Pastoric, turning to you first, I'm going to refer you to a document that I believe was filed with the Board on July 23, entitled:  "Enersource's economic and reliability performance."  It's a PowerPoint deck.

Perhaps we can mark this document?

MS. HELT:  Yes.  And Mr. Vegh, I believe you intended to say August 23 that it was filed.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, August 23.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  We can mark this as Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  POWERPOINT PRESENTATION ENTITLED:  "ENERSOURCE'S ECONOMIC AND RELIABILITY PERFORMANCE."

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

Mr. Pastoric, there has been some evidence with respect to Enersource's relative performance measures comparable to other utilities.

Could you please provide the Panel with your perspective on ways to measure and evaluate Enersource's performance?

MR. PASTORIC:  Thank you.  Enersource is driven to deliver reliable power economically to its customers, and according to our customer surveys they value this also.

From Enersource's management's point of view, to measure relative efficiency, two elements come into play.  The first element is total dollars, capital and OM&A spent to deliver the product, and the second element is the amount of product we deliver.

If we translate this into an equation, this effectiveness would be measured by total dollars spent over total kilowatt-hours.

Traditionally Enersource does not compare itself against other utilities except for reliability.  However, in this hearing procedure -- process, it could be helpful for the Panel that we compare Enersource's performance against other utilities.

In this case, we will first use total dollars spent over total kilowatt-hours as our measure of efficiency, and we will use reliability indices of SAIDI, SAIFI and CAIDI as our measure of effectiveness.

The data we use in these utility-to-utility comparisons all come from the OEB's yearbooks, 2008-2010.  In these comparisons, all values are average values for that period of 2008 to 2010.

I would like you to draw the attention of -- the Panel's attention to the presentation entitled "Enersource's economic and reliability performance," which I believe is on your screen.

On page 2 of the presentation, which is now up on the screen, Enersource lists out elements that will be -- it will be comparing.  Total cost is defined as capital and OM&A, kilowatt-hours defined as total kilowatt-hours purchased, KW defined as maximum peak, either summer or winter, depending on the utility, and of course SAIDI, SAIFI and CAIDI as the service reliability indexes without adjustments.

Also on this page, in note -- in the note section, we have defined the three cohorts we will use for comparison purposes; the first cohort being the OEB's third GIRM cohort, which includes all 55 utilities listed in Ontario Energy Board document 2011-0387; the second being the Coalition of Large Distributors cohort, which includes Enersource, Horizon Utilities, Hydro Ottawa, PowerStream, Toronto Hydro and Veridian; and the third and last being the proxy cohort, as defined as Enersource's shareholder agreement -- defined by Enersource's shareholder agreement, which includes Enersource, London Hydro, Horizon Utilities, Hydro Ottawa and PowerStream.

On the next three pages, we compare Enersource's efficiency performance on a dollars per kilowatt-hour basis against each cohort.  I ask the Panel to turn to page 3, which I believe is now on the screen, entitled "Third GIRM cohort."  I will walk through this slide in detail.

This slide depicts the average dollars per kilowatt-hour for each of the 55 individual utilities within the third GIRM cohort.  On the left-hand side, the vertical axis is dollars per kilowatt-hours.  On the bottom, the horizontal axis is the individual utilities within the cohort.  The average value of each individual utility is shown by a dot on the chart.

Enersource is shown in red, and all other utilities shown in blue.

For the third GIRM cohort, Enersource ranked fifth-lowest of 55 utilities, at 0.0125 dollars per kilowatt-hour, shown by the red dot and the horizontal red line.

Looking at the cohort average, excluding Enersource, the cohort average is 0.193 dollars per kilowatt-hour, shown by the green line.

In this comparison of dollars per kilowatt-hour, Enersource is 35 percent below the third GIRM cohort average.  This is shown by the difference between the blue -- or green and red lines.

I ask the Panel now to turn to page 4, entitled "CLD cohort."

For the CLD cohort, Enersource is the lowest of the six utilities.  And the cohort average is 0.0165 dollars per kilowatt-hour.  In this comparison, Enersource is 24 percent below the cohort average.

I ask now the Panel to turn to page 5, entitled "Proxy group."

For this proxy cohort, Enersource is the lowest of five utilities.  The cohort average is 0.0156 dollars per kilowatt-hour.  In this comparison, Enersource is 20 percent below the proxy cohort average.  This presentation also has charts with respect to dollars per kilowatt on pages 15, 16 and 17.  As they provide similar outcomes, I will not discuss them in our opening remarks but would be happy to discuss them if there are questions.

I ask the Panel to please turn to page 6, which will come up on the screen.  Thank you.

On each of the next three pages, we compare Enersource's ability to deliver our product against each cohort.  On this slide, we compare the average SAIDI - which is system average interruption duration index - for the period 2008 to 2010, for the 55 individual utilities within the third GIRM.

On this left side, on the left side of this graph, the vertical axis is in SAIDI, which is measured in hours.  For the third GIRM cohort, Enersource is the second-lowest of the 55 utilities, at 0.1 hours.  The cohort average is 4.26 hours.  In this comparison, Enersource is 88 percent below the third GIRM cohort average.

If I can ask the Panel to turn to page 7 of the presentation?  Thank you.

For the CLD cohort, Enersource is the lowest of six large utilities, and the cohort average is 1.61 hours.  In this comparison, Enersource is 69 percent below the CLD cohort average.

I ask the Panel to please turn to page 8, entitled "Proxy group."

For the proxy cohort, Enersource is the lowest of five utilities, and the cohort average here is 1.29 hours.  In this comparison, Enersource is 61 percent below the cohort average.

I would like to ask the Panel to turn to page 9 of the presentation, please.

On each of the next three pages, we compare Enersource's performance with respect to SAIFI - which is system average interruption frequency index - against each of the cohorts.

In this case, the vertical axis measures the number of interruptions per customer per year.  In this comparison, Enersource ranks twelfth-lowest of 55 utilities in the third GIRM cohort, with an average of 1.07 interruptions.  The cohort group has an average of 2.17 interruptions.  Enersource is 54 percent below the third GIRM cohort average.

If I can move the Panel to page 10, please?  Thank you.

Enersource ranks second-lowest of the six utilities in the CLD cohort, and is 33 percent below the cohort average of 1.6 interruptions.

And if I can ask the Panel to move to page 11?  Thank you.

Enersource ranks second-lowest of five utilities in this cohort, this proxy cohort, and is 24 -- 25 percent, my apologies, below the cohort average of 1.43 interruptions. 

And if I can ask the panel to go to page 12.  Thank you.  On each of the next three pages we compare Enersource's performance with respect to CAIDI, which is customer average interruption duration index.  CAIDI is sometimes also referred to as response time or time to restoration.  CAIDI is measured in hours.

In this comparison, Enersource ranks third-lowest of 55 utilities in the third GIRM cohort at 0.47 hours.  Enersource is 74 percent below the average of this cohort, and this cohort's average is 1.83 hours.

If I can ask the Panel to turn to page 13, please.  Thank you.  This comparison shows Enersource the lowest of the large six utilities within the CLD cohort.  Enersource is 53 percent below the cohort average of one hour.

And if I can ask the Panel to turn to page 14.  Thank you.  This comparison shows that Enersource is the lowest of five utilities in the proxy cohort.  Enersource is 49 percent below the cohort average of .93 hours.

In summary on this, Enersource believes that utility comparisons are very complex.  However, if the Board wishes to compare utility performance, it should be done or could be done on fundamentals.

Enersource believes that the dollars per kilowatt-hour is a fundamental measure of efficiency as it embodies the total dollars spent to deliver the product to the customer over the total amount of product we deliver.

In this light, Enersource's efficiency performance is 20 to 35 percent below the average of any cohort group on a dollars-per-kilowatt-hour basis.

With respect to the ability to deliver the product, or our efficiency, Enersource has a SAIDI 61 to 88 percent below the average of any cohort.  Our frequency of outages, SAIFI, is 25 to 54 percent below the average of any cohort, and our restoration time, CAIDI, is 49 to 74 percent below the average of any cohort.

The combination of dollars per kilowatt-hour and reliability is what we see as the true value statement to our customers.  We believe we deliver reliable power economically to our customers.

Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Pastoric.

Just to carry on on this deck, the -- you did mention the reference to measures of dollar per kilowatt, as opposed to just per kilowatt-hour, and I believe that the next three slides of the deck do relate to that.

Do you have any comments on those slides?

MR. PASTORIC:  The slides essentially for, I think, 15, 16, and 17 essentially paint the same picture.  They're almost duplicates when it comes to the results.

Enersource is 36 percent below in the case of the third GIRM, when related to the dollars-per-kilowatt basis on the third GIRM.  The next one, we're the lowest of six utilities regarding the CLD, also by 26 percent.  And when we look at the proxy cohort, we're 19 percent below.  So in each case it's similar in results.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

In terms of the time period covered by this comparison, I believe you said it was 2008 to 2010?

MR. PASTORIC:  Right.

MR. VEGH:  And why does the data end in 2010?

MR. PASTORIC:  It's the most recent data that we can use for comparison purposes.  The yearbooks from the OEB as of last night haven't been updated to 2011, so we're using the most recent data of 2008 to 2010.

MR. VEGH:  Now, you did -- thank you.

Now, you discuss the measurements being by reference to dollars per kilowatt-hour and dollars per kilowatt, but not by reference to customers.  Why not, in your opinion -- why did you not measure performance by reference to number of customers?

MR. PASTORIC:  On a per-customer basis it assumes that all customers are the same, or at least not dramatically different.  We have both pensioners and the largest airport in Canada in our utility.  So by saying that they're both equal, we couldn't believe that they're both equal.

Also, when you start to look at two utilities, say, generally at the same geographical area, that may have two apartment buildings exactly the same, one utility may have individual metering that would have 250 customers in each of the buildings, so in total they would have 500 customers, and the other utility might have historical bulk metering policies that say they're only two customers.

To say that the first utility is more efficient than the second utility may be stretching it, in our minds.  So we do not go by per customer.  We look at throughput.  We're essentially a transport company, and we deliver kilowatt-hours.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Pastoric.  Those are my questions.

Perhaps turning to you, Ms. DeJulio.

In your evidence you indicate that Enersource is proposing what it calls an incremental capital and return year for 2014.  Could you please just identify for the Panel where that -- where the evidence is on that issue?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  The ICR, or incremental capital and return, evidence is found at Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1.  It's also addressed in responses to several IRs.

MR. VEGH:  And could you please provide the Panel with a general or brief description of what Enersource is requesting in this regard?

MS. DeJULIO:  Certainly.  Enersource is proposing an ICR year for 2014, which is the second year of revenue requirement and resulting rates that we are seeking in the application.

The ICR year is described in detail in the evidence, but notably, it is seeking recovery of the cost of forecasted capital expenditures for 2014, including the cost of capital.  However, Enersource is not seeking any other cost of service adjustments for 2014.

MR. VEGH:  And why is Enersource requesting the Board to provide this?

MS. DeJULIO:  Enersource is of the view that this proposed approach is just and reasonable because it smooths the amount of one-time rate increases for rebasing years under the current model, and it also more accurately provides compensation for the cost of capital to the shareholders.

MR. VEGH:  Your evidence also makes reference to the Board's renewed regulatory framework review.  Why are you proposing that the Board change its approach to regulation prior to performing the completion of that review?

MS. DeJULIO:  Enersource expects that this review will still take some time to land on final solutions.  We believe that trying this approach will provide the Board with some information and some experience on multi-year rate setting for capital costs in particular.

The outcome of this application provides a practical and a reasonable interim solution to address the current underlying challenges of rate regulation, particularly with respect to capital.  We gain experience now, in this model, in preparation for anticipated growing capital requirements which will be commencing in the next few years.

MR. VEGH:  Ms. DeJulio, the Panel and, in fact, the intervenors, I suppose, may be concerned about approving a 2014 capital expenditure year, given that it is a couple of years away and there may be concerns about whether or not those capital expenditures will actually be made.

Can you address this point by identifying whether you think that is a legitimate concern and, if so, what Enersource is -- how Enersource proposes to address that concern?

MS. DeJULIO:  If there is a concern about the second year of capital, Enersource is willing to establish a variance account to capture any underspent and then return that amount to ratepayers at some point in the future.

And in fact, Enersource is willing to take the risk on any overspent and would not ask ratepayers to cover that amount in the future.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Ms. DeJulio.  Those are my questions to you.

I do now want to address the evidence with respect to rate base additions.  And Mr. Pastoric, I'll go back to you with these questions.  And I obviously am not going to go over every rate-base expenditure, but the largest addition to rate base that's being proposed that the Board will review is with respect to the new building.

Could you please outline Enersource's views on the need to change its premises, its business premises?

MR. PASTORIC:  Thank you.  Enersource has provided evidence in Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 5 outlining the issues with respect to our current offices at 3240 Mavis Road and why building a building or having a building at 2185 Derry Road was a prudent decision.

The space requirements or justification starts back to the congestion at 3240 Mavis Road.  

3240 Mavis Road was built in three stages over 49 years.  The majority of the space was built in 1979, and many will remember the 1979 year as the famous train derailment in Mississauga.  Enersource's office was very close to ground zero of this incident, as the back end of most of the train cars ended up in what we call our boardroom right now.

After the building was completed, our employees were consolidated at this location in 1980, and from the mid-'80s until now, our customers have doubled in size, doubled in numbers, and our load has more than doubled.

Our staff counts have increased by approximately 50 percent.  Space has become very much a scarce commodity.  We have become very creative and resourceful in fitting staff into existing space through numerous renovations, converting parts of our vintage 1960s warehouse and maintenance facilities into offices.  Our lunchroom has been cannibalized several times to convert into meeting rooms.  Only a small space now exists as open space to have staff eat their lunches.


The majority of our meeting rooms are continuously booked.  A number of meeting rooms have been seconded.  There's been a number of rooms that have been seconded and converted into project rooms.  Our current indoor training centre, which our outside crews used, has been dismantled and converted into time-of-use and MDMR team rooms for the last two years.


We have utilized every part of the building, force-fitting employees into former storage rooms, meeting rooms, as well as the original vault in the building.  We have currently two employees that actually work in the vault.

Our outside crews have safety meetings each morning and work review meetings each morning, and there isn't enough space for even these meetings, so the majority of crews use the hallways of the building.  And as space is very scarce, no room is off-limits; even the boardroom in our executive area is used for those safety meetings in the mornings.

The yard area for operational staff has changed several times to accommodate both staff and individual parking.  The fence which we use to separate personal vehicles and our company vehicles has been changed several times due to fluctuations in staff numbers, due to project team meetings and so forth.

All of this makes logistics in our yard very difficult due to the congestion.  Our yard procedures have evolved that our outside supervisors now act as traffic controllers in the morning, when congestion is the highest and crews are leaving the yards.  Our prime directive here, and everywhere and every time, safety first.

As we are fitting more individuals within smaller and tighter spaces, we also have health concerns.  We have tried and carried out air quality testing every six months to keep employees informed.  We have made many changes to the building, increasing the flow of outside air of the majority of buildings.  However, due to the density of staff we have not eliminated these issues.  We also test for EMF, electromagnetic fields.  As we are crowding people in closer to the walls, we have to also be aware of the high-current conduits that sometimes run in the walls.  When we have doubts about EMF, we leave the areas open or reconfigure offices around it.

As you can hear by the previous mentioned items, we have an old building that we've pushed for many years beyond its capabilities.  We aren't victims here.  We made the right choice at the right time for the customers of Enersource and the employees to now look for space.

Our first thought was to redevelop 3240 Mavis Road, and after analysis and assessments of the property, it was deemed too expensive and too disruptive to our services to build at our own site.

Enersource hired Avison Young commercial real estate as our experts in real estate to find land to build on or to find an existing building for our needs.  Avison Young brought TAC Facilities Group – that's T-A-C Facilities Group - as their experts on space requirements.

The city of Mississauga doesn't have much undeveloped land anymore, after the growth of three decades; approximately four percent, by the city’s admissions.  The city is now undergoing intensification through redevelopment.  The best area for value, what we found through our consultants, for land and/or buildings, was the northwest section of Mississauga.  Avison Young provided several greenfield sites and several existing buildings of varying sizes for consideration.  At this time, the city also had meetings with Enersource to see if we wished to be part of the downtown core.  However, land costs and building costs eliminated this option immediately.

Avison Young evaluated numerous greenfield properties as well as existing buildings.  Enersource put out a generic RFP for developers so we can have an accurate cost of construction, in order to evaluate options on a generic footprint versus existing buildings.

Enersource evaluated the final options in detail, and out of the three options of greenfield property with a new building, leasing space, or going to an existing building, we decided to go to an existing building.

The best choice was a 16-year-old building that housed the head office of Siemens Canada, up in the Derry Road area in Meadowvale.

The first issue we had to deal with with the building was it was on nine acres of land.  We only needed six acres of land for the footprint of the building and the necessary parking for the building to be meeting all the bylaws of the city.  We negotiated with the seller to sever three acres of land and reduce the asking price.  There is no excess land at this site.

We bought 2185 Derry road, as is, where is.  Like buying an existing house, when you buy an existing building, you make trade-offs.

Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  And I understand, Mr. Pastoric, from the evidence, that there will be or have been already renovations carried out on the building.  When those renovations are complete, will the building be fully utilized by Enersource staff?

MR. PASTORIC:  There is no excess space, but there is five percent of the building that is unconverted or won't be converted, about 3,700 square feet, and this is due to the cost of conversion.

MR. VEGH:  And is it possible to make that unconverted space available for a different tenant?

MR. PASTORIC:  Regarding the five percent of the building that's unconvertible, the space is far from being move-in ready.  If it was move-in ready, we'd be utilizing it.

The preliminary discussions with the renovation experts indicated that to change out this space would be very costly, and at this point in time Enersource does not see it prudent to convert this space.

To lease out this property is sometimes the concern when you have un-utilized space.  However, to renovate this space it was very expensive, and also the space is located on the third floor on the west end, and we would require a public egress for a tenant.

According to the Ontario Building Code, OBC 3.3, it states:
"For multi-tenant facilities..."

Two being considered multi-tenant in this case:

"...the owner must provide an egress corridor to public areas and washrooms."

Enersource would be required to renovate to ensure that another 900 to 1,000 square feet would be used on a third floor for this public corridor, and this would be the space to the central staircase and washrooms.

To reduce the footprint by another thousand square feet and require Enersource to make imprudent investments to convert the space, as well as changes to security containment plans, cost to access -- restrict access for elevators and change the main floor for multi-tenants doesn't make any business sense from our point of view.

So at this point in time we see it prudent not to make that investment on the 3,700 square feet and not to lease it out.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Pastoric.

Thank you, Panel.  Those are my questions in-chief, and I would now propose to make the panel available for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Warren, I believe you're going first?

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And sorry, just -- we'll take our morning break sometime around 11:00.  I think you're intending to be at least that long, so if you can watch and see if there is an opportune time to take a break, or let us know?

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Pastoric, I want to begin briefly with you so that I can understand Exhibit K1.1, which is the document that you filed -- sorry, was marked in evidence this morning.

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  This document was filed with the Board and delivered to intervenors, as I recollect your testimony, on August 23rd of this year?

MS. DeJULIO:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And would I be correct, Ms. DeJulio, that this was after the interrogatory period was concluded?  Is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And it was after the technical conference; is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And so it was not the subject of questions at either the technical conference or the delivery of interrogatories by the intervenors; is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  This exhibit was not the subject of those -- of those events.

MR. WARREN:  Now, there is an Energy Probe interrogatory, which my friend Mr. Faye will no doubt pursue, and it is on Issue I.4, Interrogatory No. 2.  If you could turn that up, please, panel.

And if you have it, panel, it contains a comparison of the SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI -- they sound like acronyms for somebody's grandmother, but... It has a comparison in those three categories with other distributors; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  It has a comparison with what?  I'm sorry, I missed that.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, it has a comparison in the SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI categories with other distributors; correct?  It's on page 3 of 3, Ms. DeJulio.

MS. DeJULIO:  Oh, there it is, yeah.  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I want to turn, though, to the early part of Exhibit K1.1, which is a comparison with other utilities using the criterion of total dollars per kilowatt-hours.

And could you tell me where that comparison appears in the pre-filed evidence or in any of the interrogatory responses?  In other words, is this the first time in this document that we see that comparison?  Mr. Pastoric or Ms. DeJulio, either one of you

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe in our asset management plan we do have our own performance in there.  When we look at the measures, it's on dollars basis, and then there is another measure that we use as -- on a kilowatt basis.

Now, in the reference to the Energy Probe document that we have in front of us here, we do have the comparison, so we felt it was best to join the two.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I don't want to mix apples and oranges.  I'm dealing in this line of questions solely with the criteria that appears in this document of total dollars per kilowatt-hours.  And my question was, is this document the first time in your evidence where we have seen that criterion used?  Do I take it the answer to that question is yes?

MR. PASTORIC:  On the surface we would say yes.

MR. WARREN:  And do I take it then that there has been no opportunity, for example, for the intervenors to examine, prior to this morning whether or not, for example, that is a criterion which is accepted in the industry, let alone by this Board, as a useful criterion to measurement?  We haven't been able to do that until right now.  Is that fair?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DeJULIO:  This information was filed on the record August 23.  Intervenors and others have had the opportunity to review this material before this morning.

MR. WARREN:  I take it, Ms. DeJulio, that the answer to my question is, No, we have not had an opportunity -- that is, the intervenors, collectively or individually -- to ask questions, for example, about whether or not this is a valid and accepted criterion until this morning.  Is that right, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  I would say that during the technical conference our -- the intervenors did ask these questions, and that's what prompted Enersource to try to put this comparison together for the benefit of intervenors and others.

MR. WARREN:  With apologies to the sitting Panel and to the witness panel, I had in hand when I left my office yesterday what I believe is a School Energy Coalition question number 50.  And if I recollect that, it put to you, Ms. DeJulio - not you personally, but to Enersource - a comparison of OM&A data drawn from the Board's yearbooks.

Do you remember that question and your response saying that School Energy data was accurately drawn from the yearbooks?

Again, I apologize.  I thought I had the document, and I don't.  It's School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 50, Mr. Vegh, I think, is the question.

MR. MACUMBER:  We do remember the question, and the question was, can we confirm it, and, yes, we did confirm that the data came from the yearbook.  We also stated that we don't look at OM&A per customer.

MR. WARREN:  In response to that, though, you didn't take the opportunity to say that there's a more important criterion, total costs per kilowatt-hour.  You didn't alert Mr. Shepherd to the fact that there was another criterion that you used that you thought was more relevant and that, indeed, you would be relying on in this hearing, did you?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that throughout our evidence we talk about total cost and we talk about the kilowatts and SAIDI and SAIFI.  I think what we were trying to do here, because the focus was on OM&A per customer, is to provide you with what we think is a more relevant measure.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Pastoric, you and I are going to get along a lot faster -- sorry, Mr. Macumber, you and I are going to get along faster if you just answer the question I asked, and that is that, in response to Mr. Shepherd's question comparing OM&A among the various utilities drawn from the Board's yearbook, in response to that you said you don't find it a useful comparison, but you did not direct Mr. Shepherd to another criterion that you thought was more useful and that, indeed, today you would be relying on in support of your application, did you?

MS. DeJULIO:  I wonder if we could turn up that transcript.  Maybe that would make this easier for us.

MR. WARREN:  Fair point, Ms. DeJulio.  I apologize again profusely for not having it.  I don't know what I did with it.

We have it now on the screen.  The answer is:

"Enersource confirms that schedule 2 attached correctly sets out the OM&A per customer for the applicant in 2005 and 2010 based on the yearbook data.  Enersource cannot confirm which utilities on the table are comparable due to the many factors impacting the comparison, such as capitalization policies of each utility, type of customers, asset management practices, et cetera.  Please refer to Exhibit 4, tab 1, Appendix 2-G for Enersource's OM&A cost-driver table, which depicts the reasons for changes in OM&A."

That is the complete answer.  I've read it accurately, have I, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  I'm sorry, I thought you were talking about an exchange during the technical conference.

MR. WARREN:  No, I was talking about an interrogatory response.

MS. DeJULIO:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  And in that interrogatory response - this is third time lucky - I take it we can agree that you didn't direct in that answer Mr. Shepherd to a more -- what you regarded as a more reliable criterion for comparison and the one that you would be relying on in your evidence this morning.  You did not do that, did you?

MS. DeJULIO:  Enersource simply answered the question in the IR.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I'm caught a bit at a disadvantage, in that this is the first time this criterion has appeared.  I'm a bit slow on my feet in these matters, and I wonder if I could at the break take an opportunity to consider how I should approach this, not having seen it before?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, as your cross-examination would likely go beyond the break, that would be satisfactory.  However, my understanding is that this was filed on August 23rd, so it's not a complete surprise.

MR. VEGH:  If I may add as well, Madam Chair, without interrupting, the information provided on August 23rd, that all comes from the public record.  This is all from the OEB yearbooks.  And the information from the OEB yearbook data informs these questions as well.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't we proceed, please, and we'll -- if further issues arise regarding this particular exhibit and how we're going to deal with it and allow intervenors an adequate opportunity to cross on it, we will cross that bridge when we get to it.  Let's not anticipate that.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. DeJulio, I think the next set of questions I have are largely for you, and they relate to the, what you've termed the incremental ICRs, incremental capital and return; is that -- have I got that right?

MS. DeJULIO:  ICR stands for incremental capital and return.

MR. WARREN:  And Ms. DeJulio, that's not a term that I'm familiar with.  Is it a term which Enersource has created to describe its -- the 2014 component of its application?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, just by way of broad overview, Ms. DeJulio, you are the director of regulatory affairs; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  You're also a lawyer; is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Are you responsible for -- within Enersource, for being aware of regulatory policy?

MS. DeJULIO:  Are you asking me about regulatory policy within Enersource?

MR. WARREN:  No, generally with respect to the regulatory policy of this Board and of the Ontario government.

MS. DeJULIO:  I would say yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And you would be responsible for advising senior management and your board of directors on regulatory policy, again, defined as this Board's policy and the government's policy; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  I certainly provide regulatory policy and assistance in Enersource's strategy for regulatory -- its own regulatory policy.

It's extremely rare that I provide that directly to our board of directors.

MR. WARREN:  You would be responsible, I take it, Ms. DeJulio, for being aware of Ontario Energy Board decisions which express the Board's regulatory policy and may be relevant to Enersource; is that fair?

MS. DeJULIO:  That's fair.

MR. WARREN:  And you would be responsible for advising your senior management on whether Enersource's actions, including its rate applications, were consistent with OEB policy and OEB decisions; is that fair?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, given that, Ms. DeJulio, you would be familiar with the Board's report on third generation incentive regulation for Ontario's electricity distributors, a report dated July 14th, 2008; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  I have to admit I was not working for Enersource at that time when that report was released.  I have since read it.  It's been a while since I read that report.

MR. WARREN:  Well, let's see if we can refresh our joint memories on what that report says.

The Board said - and if you wish, it appears at page 7 of the report – that the Board determined that the planned term for third generation IRM will be fixed at three years, which is a rebasing year plus three years.

You did understand that; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And am I correct that, pursuant to that policy, in the ordinary course 2013 would be a rebasing year for Enersource, followed by three years of an incentive regulation regime?

That's in the ordinary course; is that fair, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  Actually, Enersource was on a schedule to rebase in 2012.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MS. DeJULIO:  Our first rebasing under that third GIRM model was in 2008.

In -- I can't recall the date, I'm sorry, but it was probably in April of -- I can't recall the date.  But we did send a letter to the Board, asking to defer our cost of service rate application for the 2013 rate year, and the Board did agree to that deferral.

MR. WARREN:  No magic in my question.  Nothing tricky in my question, Ms. DeJulio.  I'm just trying to follow up on the Board's report on third generation IRM.

Would I be correct, though, taking into consideration that referral, that in the ordinary course, other things being equal, that 2013 would be a rebasing year, followed by three years of an incentive regulation regime for Enersource?

That's what the Board's policy dictates; is that not fair?

MS. DeJULIO:  What you're describing is the conventional approach.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that answer.

And in the Board's report on third generation incentive regulation, the Board did allow for changes to the regime, and in particular it created what is known as the incremental capital module; do you recall that?

MS. DeJULIO:  "Recalling" that is probably not quite the term I would use, but I am aware of that.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Would you have any reason to disagree with my recollection of the report that the incremental capital module is intended to address concerns over the treatment of capital investment needs that may arise during the course of the IRM term -- IR term?  Fair summary?

MS. DeJULIO:  I believe --


MR. WARREN:  Consistent with your understanding?

MS. DeJULIO:  It sounds fair to me.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And that the Board further provided criteria for the application of the incremental capital module, should it -- the need arise for a utility, and the criteria were materiality, need and prudence; do you recall that, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  Again, I have to admit I'm not intimately familiar with all of the language in the description, in that report, but --


MR. WARREN:  You have no reason to disagree with my summary of it?

MS. DeJULIO:  I certainly can't disagree with your summary.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the issue of, again, dealing with the Board's policies on incentive regulation and the incentive regulation regime, the issue of early rebasing is one that has been the subject of Board consideration; would you agree with that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Perhaps you could give me that question again?

MR. WARREN:  The question of early rebasing - that is, moving off the three-year regime to rebase early - has been the subject of consideration in a number of contexts by the Board; you would agree with that?

MS. DeJULIO:  I do --


MR. WARREN:  You understand that?

MS. DeJULIO:  I do recall Hydro Ottawa applying to -- for an early rebasing.  I recall that, and I recall they were denied that.

MR. WARREN:  And do you recall that the Board sent a letter to all electricity distributors, dated April 20th, 2010?  Enersource would have received a copy of that; fair enough?

MS. DeJULIO:  I do recall that.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And you would be familiar with the policy expressed in it, in which the Board said, and I quote:

"The distributor must clearly demonstrate why and how it cannot adequately manage its resources and financial needs during the remainder of the IRM plan period."

Do you recall that that's what that letter said?

MS. DeJULIO:  You know, I don't have that letter memorized, but I can't disagree with you on that.

MR. WARREN:  Now, do you recall -- and this should be, I'm assuming, fresh in your memory, because it's January of this year -- that the Board issued a decision in respect of an application by Toronto Hydro in which it proposed - I want to be fair in my description of it - what might be described as serial cost of service rates for a three-year period?

Do you recall that application, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  I recall Toronto Hydro being in front of the Board, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MS. DeJULIO:  I have to admit, you know, I don't know all of the details of that decision.

MR. WARREN:  Well, would you have familiarized yourself with the Board's decision with reasons and order on the preliminary issue, dated January 5, 2012?  Did you familiarize yourself what that decision?

MS. DeJULIO:  I -- I probably have some information about specifically on how the Board addressed the concept of ICM.  I just remember some of that language from that decision.  And I -- but I don't have the rest of that decision memorized at all.

MR. WARREN:  Well, if I can just take you back to it, since it's a fairly recent document and did receive some currency in the popular media, the Board began its analysis by reiterating the third generation IRM policy, by stating that it's composed of a first year rate set on the base of cost of service, followed by three years of rates using a formula with an inflation factor and productivity factors.

And then it describes certain elements in the policy that allowed, if you wish, utilities to modify the terms of it, and that included the incremental capital module, Z-factors and an off-ramp.

And then at page 3 of the decision, the Board said that the third generation IRM policy has multiple objectives, and it listed four of them.  They were productivity incentives for the benefit of distributors and ratepayers, predictability about the regulatory regime, reduced regulatory burden on applicants through streamlined IRM applications, and reduced resource requirements for the Board through staggered cost of service applications.

Do you remember that statement in the decision?

MR. VEGH:  If I may, Madam Chair, I don't like to interrupt, and I've given my friend lots of leeway, but this is about the fifth Board document that he's summarized and read extended quotations from to the witness and asked her to comment upon.

Normally the practice would be to provide the witness with the document so that they can review them in full context.  I think I understand where Mr. Warren is going, but I just wonder if there's a more fair way to address this point, rather than throwing out a series of quotations to the witness out of the blue for documents that have spaced out over the last five, six years and asking them -- asking the witness whether they agree with that statement or not.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, let me express my astonishment at the idea that Ms. DeJulio would not be intimately familiar with this decision, particularly since she said part of her responsibilities is to be aware of Board decisions.  This is a matter of public record, in addition to which it was a matter of some considerable public controversy in the early part of this year.

If Ms. DeJulio now says, I'm not familiar with this decision at all, then frankly, I'll ask the Board for an adjournment so we can get a copy for her.  She can take my copy if she wants.

MS. CHAPLIN:  In fairness, Mr. Warren, I think the most expeditious way to conduct the questioning is if the panel can be aware, where possible, of the documents you intend to rely on.

You've heard she has given her testimony as to her level of familiarity.  I don't think she's saying she's not familiar.

Are there other documents, other Board documents, that you would like her views on, in terms of their applicability?

MR. WARREN:  No, this is it.  This is the final stage of my cross-examination on this point.  But if the Board would prefer to adjourn so we can get additional copies, or she can take my copy of it if she wants.

But it strikes me, Madam Chair, that in the ordinary course the Board's policy on providing documents in advance is a policy which applies to documents which are not in the public record.  And this is a matter of -- this is a matter of public record, this decision.  And I would have thought Ms. DeJulio would have known it like the back of her hand.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I understand that, and you've made that view clear.  We are also now trying to figure out a practical way forward to get the best testimony to help us in our decision.  Would you like an adjournment, or --


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Warren offered to hand over the document.  Perhaps that's the most efficient way to do it.  And if the witness is capable of answering on that basis, she may do that.

MR. WARREN:  I don't have any marginalia noted on it, certainly no comments about Mr. Vegh.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MS. DeJULIO:  I don't see any comments about you either.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. DeJulio, I was at page 3 of the document in which the Board on page 2 expressed -- reiterated -- what the third generation IRM policy is, and then it said on page 3 that the IRM policy has certain objectives, which include predictability about the regulatory regime and reduced resource requirements for the Board through staggered cost of service applications.

Do you see those?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Would you then turn to page 6 of the decision, Ms. DeJulio.  I believe it's helpfully highlighted by me in yellow, the statement:

"It is for the applicant to determine the form of the application in full knowledge of the Board's policy and in full knowledge that the test -- of the test that must be met in the event that the application departs from that policy."

Do you see that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And then at page 7 the Board set out the standard which the applicant must meet in demonstrating why and how it cannot adequately manage its resources and financial needs during the remainder of the third generation IRM plan term.  And it then on that page adopted a submission or a test, which was expressed by Board Staff in the following terms:

"The Board needs to be persuaded through clear, cogent, and credible evidence that it is more likely than not.  In that case Toronto Hydro will not be able to adequately manage its resources and financial needs if it is subject to an IRM for rate-setting purposes."

Do you see that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And then at page 14 -- and we don't need to deal with this in any detail -- at page 14 the Board set out its findings in relation to that applicant, Toronto Hydro, as saying Toronto Hydro hadn't met that test.  Do you see those?

MS. DeJULIO:  Do you want me to read them out?

MR. WARREN:  No, just, do you see that on page 14 the Board set out its reasons for rejecting Toronto Hydro's application?

MS. DeJULIO:  I'm just reading them.  

[Reading]

Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Can we agree, Ms. DeJulio, that by this application Enersource proposes to deviate from the Board's third generation IRM policy?  Can we agree on that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, Enersource has proposed something that is different from the conventional third-GIRM method.

MR. WARREN:  And can you and I agree that Enersource has provided no evidence to demonstrate that it will not be able to manage its resources and financial needs if it is subject to an IRM period for rate-setting purposes, no evidence whatsoever?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DeJULIO:  We have -- Enersource has never said -- or used that language of -- from page 14.  Let me just pull it up again, please.

MR. WARREN:  The test is set out, actually, Ms. DeJulio, at page 7, where the Board sets out the standard that it expects of the evidence that is filed in support of an application to deviate from the third generation IRM policy.  Page 14 deals with the particular circumstances of Toronto Hydro.

MS. DeJULIO:  Right.  I mean, this decision applies specifically to Toronto Hydro and their application, which is, from my recollection, completely different from what Enersource is applying for.

There was a reference to an early rebasing.  Enersource is not early rebasing.  In fact, we've come in about eight months after our -- what would have been a traditional four-year period.

Enersource is proposing a second year of revenue requirement, and it's called incremental capital and return.  And that name is very specific to what Enersource is requesting.

There is -- we have not said anywhere in our evidence that there is financial difficulty for Enersource.  That is not how we have characterized this application at all.  We have simply made this proposal on the basis of, you know, two very compelling reasons, as far as Enersource is concerned, and that is to allow the Board an opportunity to set just and reasonable rates for 2014 by basically softening or dampening what would otherwise be a step rate increase and also, more correctly, compensating shareholders for their investments in capital.

And I'm quite certain in our evidence, in the manager's summary, which is Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1, we have -- we have said Enersource is going to spend this money in 2014, frankly, regardless of whether the Ontario Energy Board approves this application as filed.

So there has not been any suggestion that there is, you know, financial difficulties or -- and so therefore we -- you know, there was no need to sort of provide that kind of evidence.

I'm trying to answer the question, but...

MR. WARREN:  Let me -- thank you for that, Ms. DeJulio, but let me just put the narrow question which I put to you, which is using the Board's test as it was expressed in the Toronto Hydro case.

The Board said at page 7 of that decision:

"The Board needs to be persuaded through clear, cogent, and credible evidence that it is more likely than not that the utility..."

And I'm using the generic term.  They applied it to Toronto Hydro in that case:

"...will not be able to adequately manage its resources and financial needs if it is subject to IRM for rate-setting purposes."

And my question simply was this:  You have provided no evidence to demonstrate that you will not be able to manage your resources and financial needs if you're subject to an IRM for rate-setting purposes.

Can we agree on that, Ms. DeJulio?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. DeJULIO:  As I said, we have never -- Enersource has never said that we would not be able to adequately manage its resources and financial needs.

What we have said is we believe this proposal is fair and would allow the Board to set just and reasonable rates and ensure that ratepayers do not -- well, to mitigate what would likely otherwise be, you know, difficult step rate increases, and at the same time compensating shareholders for the investments that are made every year in Enersource's system, whether it's an IRM year or it's a rebasing year.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to take it just a little further than that, and in this context, if you could start by turning up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8 on Issue I.1?

And Ms. DeJulio, if you can accept my gloss, generalization, on the question, Board Staff asked you if, in finalizing your plans for 2014, whether you considered the IRM incremental capital module approach.

And if I could turn you over to the second page, at response (a), the second paragraph that says:

"No, Enersource did not prepare an analysis comparing the approach proposed in this application, i.e., the ICR, with the existing IRM-ICM."

Correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And just as a further element to that, Ms. DeJulio, do you by any chance have the transcripts of the first day -- it's July 30th -- of the technical conference?  Do you have that?

And beginning on page 43, Ms. Girvan asked you the question, beginning at line 20 -- she was -- as a follow-up to a question my friend Mr. Faye was asking.  Ms. Girvan said:

"Peter, can I just follow up?  So just to be clear, you didn't do that -- I mean, in assessing your options, you didn't look at what 2014 would look like under IRM or IRM with an incremental capital module?  You didn't do that analysis?
"MS. DeJULIO:  Ms. Girvan, you are right.  We did not do that analysis.  There were -- with respect to IRM, there are unknowns, and we believed that the ICR proposal was, you know, the best proposal for ratepayers and shareholders, and that's why we went -- that's why we made this proposal for 2014."

And then you continue at the top of page 4:

"With respect to your question on ICM, that's correct.  We did not run that model either.  A big factor in that decision not to run that model was the -- one of the criterion, which is -- one of the criteria which is a criterion to have capital expenditures being non-discretionary, and our capital expenditures for 2014, most of them, if not all of them, do no fall into that category."

Have I read that correctly?

MS. DeJULIO:  Relatively correctly, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry for any errors in it.

And the exchange, that exchange about comparisons continues on the next two or three pages of the transcript, and I won't tax everyone by reading it.

But am I fair in concluding from those exchanges, Ms. DeJulio, that the reality is that Enersource Hydro Mississauga understood it could not meet the ICM criteria?

MS. DeJULIO:  As I said in the technical conference, Enersource realized that, based on OEB decisions in ICM applications, the language that the Board used in those decisions would not be the same characterization we could 
-- we could apply to our own situation; that is, these expenditures for 2014, they could not be considered extraordinary.  They could not be considered unanticipated.  They could not be considered non-discretionary.  They would not be facility-specific and discrete.

For those reasons, we concluded Enersource would not be able to satisfy the definition of the ICM application.

MR. WARREN:  Would you agree with me, Ms. DeJulio, that a decision by a regulated utility to depart from or deviate from a well-established regulatory policy -- one that was reiterated in clear, cogent, and forceful terms as late as January 5th of this year -- that a decision to deviate from that policy is an important one by a regulated utility?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  We did not make this decision lightly.

MR. WARREN:  And is that a decision, would you agree with me, that ought to be put to the board of directors of the utility?

MS. DeJULIO:  Certainly the board of directors was completely aware of management's decision to pursue this rate application.

MR. WARREN:  My question, first of all, was:  Do you agree that a decision to deviate from regulatory policy is one which ought to be put to the board of directors?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say the board of directors fully knows the rate application that was put forward.  They know that investments will be made.  If they're acting on behalf of the shareholder, as well, they know that investments have to be made and a return should be made from that investment.

The board knew what we were doing and how we were proposing to set rates for 2014.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Macumber, I've searched through the record.  It's a voluminous one, and I may well have missed It, but I don I don't see any evidence in the record that the decision to deviate from established regulatory policy was, in fact, put to the board of directors.

Put to senior management –- the question was asked of you – but I don't see any evidence in the record that it was put to the board of directors; can you tell me where it is, to remind me what I've missed?

MR. MACUMBER:  In the evidence, I said the CEO approved our application, which the board knew what the CEO was approving.

MR. WARREN:  But there's no evidence of that in the record; am I correct?  Other than what you've told me today?

MS. DeJULIO:  In Enersource's response to an interrogatory -- and it is Issue I.1 from the Consumers Council of Canada and it's IR No. 1.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MS. DeJULIO:  We provided, as was requested, a copy of a presentation made to the board of directors regarding the decision to file this two-year application for rates.

MR. WARREN:  What I didn't see in the answer, Ms. DeJulio -- and perhaps I'm simply splitting hairs and being silly about it, but what I didn't see in that or anywhere in the record was a statement to the board of directors that you were deviating from Ontario Energy Board policy.

I don't see that anywhere in the record; am I correct about that, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  I wonder if I could ask Mr. Killeen to open up that presentation.

If you look on that second slide, the first page -- sorry, the first point shows detailed budgets for 2013 and 2014.

So that point would be very clear to our board of -- the members of our board of directors, that this was different from the conventional application.

MR. WARREN:  My final questions in this area, Ms. DeJulio, deal with the expressed rationale for the -- what you've described as your ICR model.  And in this context, a couple of references might be helpful.  One is the manager's summary, which you referred to a few moments ago in your testimony.  And that is Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1.

I'm looking at page 3, beginning at line 3.  And the manager's summary says, and I quote:

"The outcome of this application provides a practical and reasonable interim solution to the underlying challenges of rate regulation in a time of growing capital requirements."

And I want to just pause on the words "interim solution".  Interim for what, Ms. DeJulio?

MS. DeJULIO:  If you can look at the page before that, on page 2, starting at line 19, Enersource refers to the Ontario Energy Board's initiative called the renewed regulatory framework for electricity.  The acronym is RRFE.

That initiative is, in our understanding, a long-term initiative, and in that -- it was in that context that Enersource proposed this reasonable interim solution until the Board issues its report or implements some change, presumably a long-term permanent change, to rate-setting mechanisms.

MR. WARREN:  We can agree as we sit here today that the Board's third generation IRM policy, as it was expressed in the report to which I referred earlier, that is the policy of the Board, and it has not changed; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  And I'm sorry, could you please repeat that question?

MR. WARREN:  Can we agree that the Board's policy on third generation IRM as it was expressed in the report that I referred you to earlier -- this is the July 14th, 2008 report -- that that policy is, as we sit here today, the policy of the Board; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  It's -- it's -- are you talking about the 2008 report?  Is that what you're talking about?

MR. WARREN:  The policy that was expressed in that and that was reiterated in clear terms in the July -- in the January 5th, 2012 decision in Toronto Hydro, that policy, as we sit here today, is the policy of the Board; correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  It is certainly one of many policies of the Board.  It's -- I don't believe it's, you know, the only policy that distributors can look to for guidance in how to file the rate applications.

MR. WARREN:  Well, you're going to have to help me on that, Ms. DeJulio.  Is there some other policy of the Board out there on third generation IRM that I'm not aware of about...

MS. DeJULIO:  No, not that I'm aware.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  And we can agree that whatever discussions are taking place under the acronym RRFE, that that has not resulted in a Board policy, has it?

MS. DeJULIO:  I -- if you're asking whether the Board has issued a report on that yet, my understanding is no.

MR. WARREN:  I didn't ask that question.  My question was that that has not resulted in a different Board policy, has it?

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, all I can tell you is, I am not aware of any report or new order or direction or directive from the OEB as an outcome of the RRFE initiative.

MR. WARREN:  And then surely you and I can agree that any application like ICR, which attempts in some way to anticipate what the Board might do as a result of that, surely you and I can agree that that application is premature, is it not?

MS. DeJULIO:  It is not Enersource's attention -- intention in this application to presuppose what the Board is going to implement coming out of this initiative.  It truly is simply a proposal that we believe is a worthwhile approach.

It certainly gives the Ontario Energy Board an opportunity to learn from the outcomes, if this approach is approved.  It might inform the Board for the longer-term with respect to the implementation of the RRFE decision or solution.

But frankly, it's -- we think it's a really interesting way to address the challenges of capital.  And I'm confident that the Board is aware of those challenges in the industry.  And it's also, we think, a good time to use this approach, to try this approach, because it's very clear that for Enersource in particular and, I suspect, for many distributors in general, there is going to be greater requirement for capital as we go forward.

Right now, as we've described in this application, this is business as usual for Enersource with respect to the required capital expenditures.  But by the time we're here, say, likely four years from now, we will very likely have to be asking for approval and recovery of capital expenditures that are much higher than what has been business as usual for Enersource.

So this is probably a good time, during a relatively stable period, to try this different approach and see what kind of effects come out of it.  We think it's a pretty modest change to what would otherwise be, in terms of the IRM, for that year, 2014, and it's a little bit predictable right now and may be less so four years from now.

And so our position is, we're not trying to get ahead of the RRFE.  We are looking forward to that decision -- the decision and the implementation of any changes that come out of that, but in the meantime we think that this is a very reasonable way to address the challenges of capital.  We think it's extremely attractive to the ratepayer versus the, what we have described as nominal increases every year in the IRM, and then a relatively large step change in that fourth year, the rebasing year, and we're trying very hard to mitigate that, which we think would be more palatable for ratepayers.  And as I've said, and as it says in our evidence, we also believe that it's a fair way to compensate the shareholders.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. DeJulio, just -- sorry to be boring about this, but can we just stick with what the evidence is in this application?

Now, there are repeated references -- you were asked repeatedly in interrogatories and at the technical conference -- you were asked whether you had any evidence at all with respect to the years 2015 and 2016, and your answer was repeatedly, No, we didn't file any evidence on that.  Am I right?

MS. DeJULIO:  That is correct to an extent.  I believe if we were to turn up Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, there is descriptions in that evidence on capital expenditures for 2015 and 2016.

MR. WARREN:  If I look at Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1 on page 1 --


MS. DeJULIO:  You're right, I'm sorry.  It is schedule 1.

MR. WARREN:  -- schedule 1, I see the net capital expenditures for 2008 to 2014, and they have, from a high of 64 million in 2012, they decline to 46 million in 2013, and further decline to 45 million in 2014; correct?  If I read the document correctly?

MS. GJEVORI:  I'm sorry, can you repeat your question again?

MR. WARREN:  I'm just looking at Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1.  It indicates that under the heading "net capital expenditures for 2008 to 2014", that they're declining from 64 million in 2012 to 46 million in 2013 and 45 million in 2014.

Am I reading the document correctly?

MS. GJEVORI:  The 2012 64 million includes the investment for the new building addition.  So if you take out 20 million of that, that becomes 44 million.  So there is a slight increase from 2013, compared to 2012.  But, as we say throughout the asset management plan, we expect the wave of these capital replacements and capital expenditures to follow to increase in the upcoming five, six years.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So what you're telling the Board is:  We have an application before you today, but sometime in 2015, 2016, there may possibly be a spike in capital investments?  Is that what you're telling me?

MS. GJEVORI:  From 2008 to 2014, Enersource has spent a levelled amount of capital expenditures.  But due to the aging of our system, as demonstrated throughout the asset management plan, we will have the need to replace more assets in the future.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, is this the time for a break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  We'll break now for 15 minutes.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:29 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Warren, whenever you're ready.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. DeJulio, with apologies, I said I was spent with the topic, and I have one last question, and that is, am I right that in the years 2010/2011 Enersource Hydro Mississauga earned more than its allowed rate of return?

MS. DeJULIO:  We provided information on Enersource's return in a response in an undertaking.  We'd like to pull that up if we could.

MR. WARREN:  I think it's JT1.15, as I recollect.  It was an undertaking response on the first day of the...  But I didn't believe there was any controversy to it, Ms. DeJulio, but...

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we did not over-earn during that period.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can I ask a series of questions then on capital?  I'm not sure who is the appropriate person to answer them, but can I begin with an interrogatory response to an interrogatory from my client?  It's CCC Interrogatory No. 4 on Issue 2.1.  And what it is is a list of the 2012-2014 major projects and their forecasted in-service dates.

Panel, this interrogatory response was delivered on the 23rd of July, 2012.  Now, just on a month later, I wonder if you could tell me if the projected in-service dates for these remain as they are set out in this interrogatory response.  In other words, have there been any changes to the in-service delays, any delays that you're aware of?

MR. MORRISON:  There are no delays that I am aware of.

MR. WARREN:  And as I understood the answer that you gave to your counsel in-chief, in the event that there are delays or that monies aren't spent, that your proposal is to report that in a variance account, and any underspending will be returned to ratepayers, any overspending you'll be responsible for; is that right?

MS. DeJULIO:  If these are projects and capital expenditures in 2014, Enersource has proposed a willingness to establish a variance account such that if Enersource underspends relative to its budget for 2014, total budget, it will be willing to return that underspend in total budget to the ratepayers.

MR. WARREN:  And if you overspend, that's your problem?  It's an asymmetric variance account; is that right?

MS. DeJULIO:  It is asymmetric.  Enersource is willing to take the risk on the need for overspending in 2014.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the same doesn't apply to 2013, Ms. DeJulio?  Is there a reason why it wouldn't apply to 2013?

MS. DeJULIO:  We have proposed in 2013 traditional cost of service application and mechanisms.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, on that same exhibit you've got -- and it's over on page 4 of 4, under "the acquisition of administration building".  Now, what has been spent to this point of the amounts listed under that category?

MR. PASTORIC:  Currently we've spent for the land back in April, as well as for the building.  We are currently doing work regarding the upfit.  So that has been done.  And also the roof has now been completed.  So the majority of what you see there, the 5 million for land, the 10 million for building, the roof, and the parking lot has not been done as yet.

MR. WARREN:  And the interior fit, is that -- is any of that --


MR. PASTORIC:  That's ongoing.

MR. WARREN:  That's ongoing?  Okay.  Could I -- could I then turn and focus on that, on that new building, and see if I've understood what's going on with these two.

The current Mavis Road facility has 70,000 square feet; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Approximately, yes.  For the office space?  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  What's the total square footage of the Mavis Road facility?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe there's another 80,000 square feet dealing with the warehouse and facilities for our maintenance work.  That's not including any of the yard stuff.

MR. WARREN:  So there's a total of 150,000 square feet, roughly, in the existing facility; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  And the new Derry Road facility will have approximately 80,000 square feet; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  If you take everything that's useable, it's down to about 74,000 square feet.

MR. WARREN:  So there will be a total then of some 224,000 square feet once the acquisition -- sorry, the retrofit -- sorry, the outfitting of the new facility is completed; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, in total space, but the useable office space would be approximately 160,000, 150,000 square feet.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand it, you have a total at the moment of 150 employees; is that correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  No, we have much more than 150.  150 will be moved to the Derry Road facility.

MR. WARREN:  You're quite right; I apologize.  Let me focus on the folks who would be in the two facilities.

The total number of employees who would be housed in those two facilities is what?  I'm excluding from that the folks who live -- who do the line work and so on and so forth.

MR. PASTORIC:  We have approximately 403 budgeted, and just under 400 when you look at who's actually currently there.

MS. DeJULIO:  That includes all employees.

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And I just want to make a distinction.  The people who were currently occupying the Mavis Road facility, the 150,000 square feet, the office staff, that's a total of how many people?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PASTORIC:  We're just verifying the outside versus inside.  One moment, please.

MS. GJEVORI:  Bill, we're looking for Appendix 2-K.

MR. PASTORIC:  Can you bring it down to the bottom of the spreadsheet, please?

My apologies, Bill.  Can you move it to the top? 

Just to provide you information, in tab 2 - sorry, tab 4 - Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9, table 7, Enersource employees by type by year, we have approximately 143 outside employees.  So if we're looking at approximately 400 employees, we're about 250 employees that are in the actual offices, which is essentially -- under the 70,000 square feet, we've got 250,000 -- or 250 employees.

MR. WARREN:  And of the 250 employees in the office, how many are employed by your affiliate?

I just need a ballpark figure, folks.

MR. PASTORIC:  Seventy-five in the corp. and affiliate.

MR. WARREN:  So there would be approximately 175 Enersource Hydro employees in that Mavis Road facility at the moment; is that right?  Roughly, folks?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, you correct me if I've exceeded the bounds of decency in this -- in the crudeness of my reduction, panel, but you're going from an existing facility to a new facility that will have approximately 224,000 square feet, and for 175 employees, no increment in the number of employees.

It suggests to me, folks, for your comment, that you're in way too big a house for the number of employees you have; am I wrong about that?

MR. PASTORIC:  Currently, we have 70,000 square feet in which we house the employees.  We've indicated that 33 percent -- I believe, in our evidence -- 33 percent of our employees are in the basement and in various small cubbyholes.  We have air quality issues in the building, so we're trying to make it back to standard.

Going back to our TAC Facilities Group, who are experts in sizing buildings, they've indicated that the building that we're occupying in Derry is just slightly less than their calculations of industry standards.

So moving the 150 employees up to the new building is just moving it to, essentially, industry standards.

So I wouldn't say that we're in a big house.  We're, I guess, finally at industry standards.

MR. WARREN:  But the raw numbers, you would agree with me, you're very substantially increasing the size of your facility with no new employees?  Am I correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  We would agree that we've been under -- under-spaced for a very long period of time, and we've just rectified it.

MR. WARREN:  And the -- there will be some of the new building, new space, that will not be occupied by anyone; is that correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  As we have indicated in our evidence in-chief, 3,700 square feet -- 3,700 square feet of it is unconvertible, so that is not being utilized.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And it's unconvertible for what reason?

MR. PASTORIC:  Cost.  The original use of it doesn't match to what we require, and so we've essentially closed that part of the building off.

MR. WARREN:  And have you explored the possibility of renting that space out?

MR. PASTORIC:  We haven't explored it because, first of all, we would have to then convert it, which is uneconomical for our own use, to lease it out.  And then, as I said in my evidence in-chief, we would have to put a public corridor between 900 and 1,000 square feet to move from that space to the public stairwells and bathrooms, which means that we would then take out another thousand square feet from our own office use.

So we feel it's imprudent to do so.  One is the space is too expensive to convert, so if we notionally then convert it, then we have to eliminate a thousand square feet of our building, which, again, goes against the purpose of why we've got gone to a whole new building, is to go back to industry standards.

MR. WARREN:  Have you explored with an independent third party the possibility of renting that space out, to get an opinion as to whether or not it's commercially viable?

MR. PASTORIC:  No.

MR. WARREN:  One of the cost items that you've got is for paving of the Mavis Road yard.  Is that an essential expense?

MR. PASTORIC:  If you have potholes and you have trucks going back and forth, I believe that is an important effect, and our director of environment would say it would be.

MR. WARREN:  Is it not now paved?

MR. PASTORIC:  It's paved, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And you're repaving it; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  We're fixing it.

MR. WARREN:  For a cost of a million dollars?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.  It's quite a large yard.  It's -- I believe we're on 10 acres of land there, beside the railway tracks.

MR. WARREN:  Now, is the acquisition of the new Derry Road facility -- is that the end of the acquisition phase?  Do you have any plans, for example, to acquire other utilities?

MR. PASTORIC:  It would be nice to acquire other utilities.  At this time, we have no active plans.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Mr. Faye, I believe you are going next?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I will just alert you that we will need to rise promptly at 12:30, so if you could bear that in mind?

MR. FAYE:  I will do my best to be finished by then, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Panel, I'd like to open with a few clarification questions for Mr. Pastoric, and largely on that one issue of the metric that you like to use to measure your efficiency.  And to remind people, it was dollars per kilowatt-hour -- sorry, total dollars per kilowatt-hour, total dollars per kilowatt.

And you gave a brief statement as to why you don't like to use OM&A per customer, and I'd like to understand that a little bit better.

If I heard you right, I think it was because having both large and small customers, who cannot be compared -- they're not equal -- that a metric that averages everything together per customer is not a meaningful metric?  Is that how I should understand that?

MR. PASTORIC:  I apologize.  Could you repeat the last few seconds of your conversation?

MR. FAYE:  I think what I heard you say was that you don't like to use total OM&A dollars per customer as a metric of efficiency because having both large and small customers, who can't really be compared, that one overall measure is relatively meaningless; did I take your meaning correctly there?

MR. PASTORIC:  I think you've added two things together.

First, in the case of OM&A, we look at it as part of the equation.  OM&A is only part of the total cost equation; you must look at capital.

In the case where you were emphasizing OM&A, you may make uneconomic decisions, say with the conversion of an apartment building, just to increase the -- the -- or decrease the OM&A per customer because you're adding in a large number of customers to a utility.

So we find it as inefficient.

Also, any real decision that the utility makes is on an OM&A and capital basis.  If we put in a new computer system, there's capital.  However, the licences for that computer system is OM&A.

There are a number of different avenues.  So we can't just split part of the equation, the cost equation for our customers; we have to look at the total cost.  Over and over, we've been now told to look on a per-customer basis.

It is very difficult to say that a residential customer or a pensioner looks like the big Square One mall or if it looks like the airport or a cement plant.

So from a per-customer basis, that's not how we make decisions.  We make decisions on our throughput, which is what we see as our efficiency.

When I buy equipment for the utility, it is on electrical characteristics.  It's either on kilowatt-hours or kilowatts; it is not on a per-customer basis.  I'm not sure what a per-customer is, because they are so different within our utility.

MR. FAYE:  Well, thanks for the explanation.

And I'll just ask you to move back a step, and say does all -- is all that to say that the OM&A per customer and PP&E per customer are not meaningful?

MR. PASTORIC:  There are a lot of metrics and people look at it differently.

My testimonial was from Enersource's point of view, how we make decisions, and how we make decisions is not on an OM&A per-customer basis.

MR. FAYE:  Or on a PP&E basis?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then let me just explore a little bit about this per kilowatt-hour and per-kilowatt metric you use.

How many customers do you have in your utility?

MR. PASTORIC:  Approximately 196,000.

MR. FAYE:  And how many of those would you categorize as being large customers?

MR. PASTORIC:  Ten.  Ten being the large users, if you want.  Then we have one of the largest cement plants, and also the largest airport in Canada.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  How much of your load, both in kilowatt-hours and in kilowatts, would be contributed by those ten large customers?

MR. PASTORIC:  We're going to take a few moments to find it by rate class, because it should be in our greater than 5 meg customer-class evidence.

If I refer to Enersource's asset management plan, page 12, we only have it on a percentage base.  Large users, and it says "commercial", are -- and that's because one of our large is commercial -- 14.2 percent.

MR. FAYE:  14.2.  Thanks.

If you lost all those customers, you didn't have any large customers left, the impact on your dollars per kilowatt-hour/dollars per kilowatt, what would that impact be in trend?  You don't have to give me a number, just what direction does the impact go?  Is your cost per kilowatt-hour and your cost per kilowatt lower or higher?

MR. PASTORIC:  It's a hypothetical question of losing all those customers, so it would most likely go down if you reduce the amount of kilowatt-hours.

The same thing occurs when we do CDM or anything else, when we reduce our kilowatt-hours, so I'm not sure where the question is going, sorry.

MR. FAYE:  So you're saying that your cost per kilowatt-hour would go down if you lost all those kilowatt-hours?

MR. PASTORIC:  If the kilowatt-hours that are being consumed within our utility are going down, that means the reverse would occur with the dollars, so it would be going up.  Sorry, yes.

MR. FAYE:  So it would go up.

MR. PASTORIC:  But at the same time, one of our main features is our reliability.  We have worked very closely with our large users and provide surveys, so we've got information dealing with what they value, and they value reliability.  So that's why we maintain reliability.

In the case of large users disappearing, the city even uses us as a marketing tool dealing with attracting other businesses because of our good reliability.

So it's kind of a hypothetical question:  What happens if all our residential people move to Mexico?  I'm sorry, I can't answer that either.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I think you're probably right on residential customers effectively abandoning the town.  But you might want to look at Hamilton, Gananoque, Windsor, and the possibility does exist that very large customers do up and leave you.

MR. PASTORIC:  We have a very active key account management program.  We have been working with one of our largest cement plants for the past three years, and I believe we'll be announcing in the next few weeks one of the largest CDM programs with our largest customer there, and I think we work in partnership with those large customers to ensure that they're in town.

We actively work with those ten large customers to ensure that there isn't a situation.  One of them is the airport.  I don't believe the airport is going to be disappearing, and that cement company has indicated that we are one of the reasons why they're going to be staying in Canada.

And when it comes to the large mall, the regional water purification plants, as well as the city facilities, I don't think they're getting up and going, so again, that's a hypothetical question.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, and it was posed as a hypothetical.  It's just, what direction does your metric go if that does happen?  And I think maybe you could consider this, that the customer doesn't necessarily have to leave.  The airport, for example, it's close to Richview TS, is it not?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And if they elected to build their own station at the airport grounds and take supply of 230 KV, you would lose them, wouldn't you?

MR. PASTORIC:  Right now the airport has co-generation, and we are working very closely with them dealing with their co-generation, so that's already been taken into account, any risks of them losing any further load, and we have a great partnership with them for many years.

MR. FAYE:  The principle stands, though, wouldn't you say, Mr. Pastoric, that customers do have the option, very large customers have the option, to connect to the transmission system, and they leave the utility.

MR. PASTORIC:  They can always leave, but we have stranded assets, and we would recover it that way.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  But the effect is the same.  Your cost per kilowatt-hour, your cost per kilowatt, is impacted fairly significantly by the large customer class.

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, hypothetically, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So on the other end of the scale, if you have a residential customer leave, there's no impact at all, no discernable impact on your metric?

MR. PASTORIC:  Very minor, because it's one out of 196,000.

MR. FAYE:  Right.

MR. PASTORIC:  But at the same time, if we did uneconomic conversions of apartment buildings to put capital in that side to reduce our OM&A per customer, that seems to be very logical to me.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that's all I had to ask you on your use of the metric.  Maybe I'll just ask a couple more quick questions, just to get it on the record to elaborate.

Your utility has a mix, from what you've said, of large and small customers.  And the ones that you compare to, would they have a comparable mix?

MR. PASTORIC:  First of all, we traditionally don't compare ourselves.  Due to this process where there is a need to compare on OM&A per customer, we decided to look at the Ontario Energy Board's yearbook to make further comparisons.  Traditionally we do not compare ourselves except for a reliability point of view.

MR. FAYE:  So you don't know how PowerStream, for instance, you don't know what kind of --


MR. PASTORIC:  I haven't looked at their number of large users.  I'm not sure what they would have.

MR. FAYE:  If you don't know that, then how can you use a metric that's based on customer mix as comparator with other utilities?

MR. PASTORIC:  Frankly, we're going on a, what I would classify as a universal fundamental; that is, it's not based on a number of customers or their demographics, it's based on their characteristics of energy throughput.  And that provides, I'll call it a normalization of all the characteristics.

If I'm dealing with one customer that uses 100 kilowatts, compared to another customer that uses 1, both would be considered one customer, but they're vastly different.

So that's why we've got gone to this fundamental, to say, Here is the efficiency on a throughput basis.  When you look at generators, it is not based on how many customers it supplies it on their output.

And the same thing with us.  We're a throughput.  We're a transportation company.  We supply electricity from our borders to our customers.  So that's why this metric is so valuable to us.

MR. FAYE:  And you're happy to use that metric to compare your efficiency to other comparable utilities.

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, it is for the purpose of this hearing versus our internal.  We have our own targets internally to measure our performance, and we challenge ourselves versus other -- other utilities.

Each utility has its own unique situation with customer mix, percentage of underground overhead, deep service, bulk metering policy and so forth.  So for us to compare to another utility, it's fruitless to us.  We look at comparing ourselves to our targets and where we need to go.

MR. FAYE:  So what was the purpose of introducing it as evidence if it's not to compare to your efficiency with others?

MR. PASTORIC:  Essentially, the first comparison was that OM&A per customer was continuously used, and we don't use OM&A as a measure, we use total cost.  Each decision that's made at Enersource is on a total cost basis.

And then the issue dealing with a comparison purposes for the Board, we had to look at, what is the efficiency.  In our asset management plan we do talk about efficiencies of reliability, SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI, and we do talk about our budgets, which brings in the whole value equation of dollars per kilowatt or kilowatt-hour.

And my colleague indicates, since I wasn't at the technical conference, that it was quitely -- quite oftenly debated that on dollars per kilowatt-hour -- sorry, OM&A per customer was debated quite a bit.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I'm still a little bit at a loss then.  This evidence that you've presented here this morning, I thought you said that if you needed a metric to compare you to other utilities this is the one to use, not the dollars per OM&A or PP&E per customer.

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.  But again, we do it as an internal measure of what is our total cost over total throughput.  We traditionally don't do comparisons with other utilities, only for this hearing and to show the relative effectiveness of this utility.  As, frankly, part of the reason why we're here is to look at revenue requirements through our throughput and our efficiencies, we felt it was necessary.

MR. FAYE:  So are you saying that this is a metric that can be comparable to other utilities, or are you saying, no, it's not really?

MR. PASTORIC:  I would say that it's a comparable metric.  It's fairly accurate compared to using it on a per-customer basis.  We feel it's appropriate, but again, that's up to the Ontario Energy Board to determine if it feels that it's an appropriate measure for all other utilities.  We know it's appropriate for Enersource.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So notwithstanding that fact that you don't use it for that purpose internally, you would maintain that it is a useful metric for the Board to consider when comparing efficiencies of various utilities?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe it is a fundamental measure, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let's move to my pre-planned cross-examination.

I'd like you to turn up Energy Probe 2.  And for those with our compendium, that's at page 5 of the compendium, the particular piece of the evidence that I'll be referring to.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Faye, if I can just interrupt, we'll hand up a copy of your compendium to the Panel members now, and we can mark it as Exhibit K1.2, Energy Probe cross-examination compendium A, panel 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM A, PANEL 1

MR. FAYE:  Do we have that turned up?

Panel, do you have that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Can you tell us again what page that was, please?

MR. FAYE:  Of the compendium, it's page 5.

MS. DeJULIO:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Okay?

MR. PASTORIC:  Just want to clarify, as our individual is having difficulty finding it.  I believe this is the document that was received yesterday night?  Or yesterday?

MR. FAYE:  No.  Actually I made 10 copies, paper copies, that I had hoped the panel might get one or two of them.

Ms. Helt, do you have additional copies down there?

MS. HELT:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  The one that went out last night is, in substance, the same, but there is no page numbers on it.  So I made one with page numbers as a means of referencing it easier.

MR. PASTORIC:  I hope we have the right reference.

Thank you very much.

MR. FAYE:  So this is page 3 of the IRR, and what it shows is your reliability performance compared to a cohort of other utilities of like size and composition, I would expect.

And looking at, first, SAIDI, your numbers are very good.  They're excellent numbers, and they've been consistently excellent since 2006.  They vary a little bit, but -- from 0.45 in 2006 to 0.58 in 2010.

Do you see those numbers?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, I do.

MR. FAYE:  And then if you look down the chart, among the other utilities, I don't see another utility that comes very close.  Perhaps -- perhaps Brampton Hydro One Networks.

Would you agree that that's about the only one that's close to you on this?

MR. PASTORIC:  Reliability is also a very difficult one because of the measuring systems, and we've been looking at that very closely.  But from the OEB data that is presented here, that is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then if we move down to the SAIFI part of the response, there are some that are a little bit closer to you here.  And just to be –- a point of clarification, the lower the number in SAIFI, the better you are; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  It indicates that there was less incidences of outage, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So going across the chart from 2006 to 2010, there's a little bit more variation here than there was with SAIDI, but generally, you're one of the leading utilities in this chart; would you agree with that?

MR. PASTORIC:  I would agree.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then in the CAIDI part, the same would hold true because it's a ratio of the two above, 
so --


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So my interest in this is that you're doing very much better than your comparators, and I wonder if you would comment on why do you think you're doing so much better on this.

MR. PASTORIC:  A couple of things, I would say, is we take it to heart, each outage.  We're notified of how many customers are out.  We have our trouble crews out, and we have a 24/7 trouble crew.  We also have a 24/7 control room.

We've invested in what we will call an integrated operating model.  This is a computer system that, essentially, when information is fed into it -- say two customers call -- we look at the common point between those two customers.  If four customers call, we find out what is the common device.  And we can deal with the outage faster and more accurately than most.

I believe we're only one of less than a handful of utilities in the province that have that.

This is something, as we said before, our customers demand of us from a performance point of view, and we -- we plan to provide it.

Now, the interesting thing is when we implemented the system in its full measure -- and this is an evolutionary system -- about two and a half years ago, we saw a jump in SAIFI.  And that's because -- it's quite interesting when you measure something up to 60 seconds, if it's 61 seconds, now it's considered a sustainable outage.

And what we found in the previous, more manual systems, that if an operator after 65 seconds potentially could have closed a switch, that would have been seen as momentary.

So with the accuracy of our system down to the split second, our jump on SAIFI occurred back in -- I believe you see it in 2009 when we implemented that system.

So it just signifies what was always out there.  We just have a very accurate way of measuring it.

So even with the industry, we find ourselves being very accurate dealing with the number of sustained outages, as well as momentary outages.

MR. FAYE:  So that, if I hear you right, data capture is a big part of the reason why your indices are so good?

MR. PASTORIC:  No.  No, essentially they would go in the opposite direction.  Because you're capturing so much information, you would see every single outage, whereas -– let me say if I wasn't as disciplined, and I pressed a button to close a breaker, within a minute to eight minutes, I would potentially consider that as a momentary in some locales.

In our locale, it is not the case.  You have an automatic auditing system that says your -- 61 seconds, that's a sustained out.

And essentially we would have more outages by our method than most utilities, because it's so accurate.

MR. FAYE:  So it can't be that the accuracy of your system is responsible for such good results; it must be some underlying cause of the system that allows you, since you're measuring everything and --


MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, I guess there's a couple of issues, I guess, with the topology of the utility.  Topology of the utility, we have more underground than overhead, which is really great when you are you have a new system.

So when a storm goes through and you have an underground system, it's fantastic.  However, when you get an old system, as ours is now, we have longer lead times to find the fault, because now what you're looking is not for a broken wire in the sky; you're looking for a melted cable underground, which takes much more time.  It's harder to fix, longer times to fix, and usually accounts for more customers, because of -- if it's a main feeder or so forth.

So in that case, we had the, I'll call it, benefit of making the decisions for an underground system.  However, there are pros and cons for both of those situations.

But we do have a 24/7 control room and a 24/7 trouble truck, which responds to our -- to our outages very quickly.

MR. FAYE:  Yeah.  I want to address what you just said there about underground and overhead, but first, you've mentioned a couple of times that you have a 24/7 control room, you have a 24/7 trouble truck, you have an automated SCADA system that identifies faults quick.

Of the other utilities on this chart on page 5 of the compendium, would they not also have a 24/7 control room, 24/7 trouble truck, automated SCADA system?

MR. PASTORIC:  Just to clarify, the operating model is not the SCADA system.  The SCADA system monitors devices.  The integrated operating model monitors the system.  We are now moving to have the SCADA functionality put into it.  It does not have that as yet.

I am unaware of any other utilities.  I would assume the larger utilities like Toronto would have a 24/7 control room.  I'm not aware of their trouble truck situation, if they have one or multiple ones.

We look at a placing our trouble truck in an optimal place within the system to deal with outages.  I believe we've tracked it that it's 30 seconds to any corner of our utility from our location currently, so -- or 30 minutes, I should say.  So we look at optimizing those truck rolls all of the time.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Could I just return, then, to something I thought you'd said previously, that when you listed off those specialties that Enersource has, did I hear you say that you were one of the few in the province that did have all those things at your command?

MR. PASTORIC:  What I was saying was we have these features.  I'm not sure what the other utilities have.  We have a 24/7 control room.  This is what I believe gives us the advantage, but I'm not sure what -- what the others have.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, on the subject of underground and overhead, you said that you have -- 60 percent of your distribution system is underground?  Did I get that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I didn't mention a percentage, but I believe that is accurate.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So that's 40 percent overhead then.

MR. PASTORIC:  By elimination, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Now, you said that underground systems, if I can paraphrase, are weather-tolerant.  They don't seem to react to weather the way overhead does; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Some aspects, yes.  In the case of a winter storm that would be true.  However, due to the heat in the last two years, what happens with cables, just like any person, if you stress it out, your time of life decreases.

So if you over-stress, there is a terminology called "limited time rating for transformers" if you deal with large transformers.  In other words, if you stress it out, you have less than the actual life that was on the -- I'll call it the name plate.

So if I'm a hundred years old, if I tend to stress my life out, I might only live to 88 years.  The same thing happens with cables.  After progressive summers that are extremely hot, that are pushed beyond limit, as we've had in the last two years, what you'll have is an acceleration of failure.

Most of the cable faults that we're seeing is between 30 and 40 years of age.  We track ages of cables, when they fault, and why they fault.

MR. FAYE:  And if I understood you right, you're now in that sort of paradigm where a large part of your underground is deteriorating and needing replacement?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.  We're going through the asset management plan, and we see that over the next five, ten, and 15 years, that we'll need to accelerate that, but we want to do it in a planned fashion, versus a step function.

MR. FAYE:  And given that, it would seem to me that your reliability stats should be deteriorating.  And yet I don't see that in the chart, or --


MR. PASTORIC:  They actually have.  If you look at 2010, they have gone up, I believe.  But the key thing is we're not trying to improve our reliability, we're trying to sustain our reliability.  So that's the key measure for us.

As we look for more capital, it's more of trying to rebuild systems to maintain the current reliability versus increase the reliability.  But in the last two years, and including 2011, which aren't on these stats, it was a bad year for us.  I would say it's better than most, but frankly, for us it was a very bad year.  In 2012, July and August have been extremely bad from a reliability point of view.

MR. FAYE:  What impact does OM&A, your maintenance program, have on reliability?

MR. PASTORIC:  Well, I guess it's a trade-off between...  Yeah, it's a trade-off between capital and OM&A.  If I want to replace a whole subdivision today, it's capital.  If I want to fix that subdivision today, I go in and I do OM&A changes to that.

We have a -- we have a belief that we should try to fix it rather than just replace everything anytime anything goes wrong.

So frankly, it's a -- again comes back to that total cost equation.  Either it's going to be capital or it's going to be OM&A.  We try to fix it first, and if we find that it's beyond what our engineers believe is acceptable through our principles, then we would replace it and put that into future plans to replace.

MR. FAYE:  So the amount of money you spend on capital and OM&A, could I conclude that that has a positive impact on reliability?

MR. PASTORIC:  It maintains it, so, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the opposite would be true?  If you spent less, your reliability would decline?

MR. PASTORIC:  Absolutely.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  Can I turn you then to page 8 of our compendium.  And this is Schools No. 50.  And in that IR they submitted to you some yearbook data that you've already referred to in some of the questioning here today.  And I just want to draw -- draw your attention to a few of the items in this list here.

If we look at this schedule of OM&A and PP&E per customer, Enersource in 2010 is 249.14, $249.14 per customer.  Have I read that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  It's the same number I have, so, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And when you look at -- just look either side of yourself in that chart, say go three up and three down, all of those utilities -- PowerStream, Hydro Ottawa, Horizon London, Hydro One Brampton, and Veridian -- they're all less than your cost per customer on OM&A; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, from the numbers that we show here.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And in some cases they're very significantly less.  For instance, Hydro One Brampton is $150.37 per customer per year, as opposed to your 249.14, which is, you know, a very significant difference, wouldn't you say?

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, in this chart we're categorizing OM&A per customer, which has a number of factors dealing with customer mix, number of customers, number of residential customers compared to industrial customers, so I'm not sure what the basis is.  Yes, they are different.

MR. FAYE:  Yeah.  So the answer is, yes, there's a significant difference between Hydro One Brampton's cost per customer and Enersource's cost per customer.  And just a yes or no.  There's nothing tricky about the question.

MR. PASTORIC:  I guess the question would be again, what is significant?  I believe in one case -- yeah, I'm not sure where you're driving on this.  There are different numbers, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Would you say a 50 percent difference in cost per customer would be a significant difference?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what you're looking at is the OM&A per customer, the PP&E per customer, and what we're trying to say is it's total cost by load.  I think you're trying to characterize --


MR. FAYE:  Yes, yes, I've heard that.  What I'm asking you about is the numbers in this chart and whether there is a significant difference between OM&A per customer at Enersource and OM&A per customer at comparable utilities.

MR. MACUMBER:  I can't comment on whether or not this accurately reflects if there's a significant difference or not.

MR. FAYE:  I'm not going to ask you why you think that, because I don't really have 15 minutes left here.

Can we go back then to reliability.  And I believe Mr. Pastoric acknowledged that total costs, total investment in your system for OM&A, maintenance in particular, and for capital, have a direct and positive impact on reliability?  The more you spend, the better reliability gets?

MR. PASTORIC:  It's difficult to comment, because there's a timing issue too.  If I do a -- if I leave a rebuild for one month, it doesn't mean the reliability for that one month will suddenly degrade --


MR. FAYE:  Excuse me, Mr. Pastoric.  Did I not ask you this very question a few moments ago and you said yes?

MR. PASTORIC:  I agree that if you put more money eventually when -- end of time, there is going to be a positive benefit of it.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. PASTORIC:  It's just like if you are maintaining your car.  If you put in repair costs or you change the tires, the car will last longer.  I agree with that comment.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thank you.

Then given your what I could only characterize as stellar performance on reliability, would it not be feasible for you to stop spending so much money on OM&A and capital and accept a somewhat smaller reliability or less reliable system because none of your comparators have reliability stats that come anywhere near to yours?

MR. PASTORIC:  I have to draw your attention to a customer survey I guess we've mentioned in the past, but our customers request us to have this type of reliability.  As you indicated, what would happen if our ten largest customers would leave the utility?  Frankly, if we stopped spending money, those ten would leave.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Then let me ask you this question.  We're looking at the reliability chart, page 5 of the compendium.  Hydro One Brampton, on SAIDI, is quite similar to your figure, is it not?  .66 versus .58?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And on SAIFI, 1.47 for Hydro One Brampton and 1.32 for Enersource?  That correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  If we flip back to page 8 and we look at Hydro One Brampton's OM&A per customer of $150, versus Enersource's of 249, I would ask the question:  How are they able to produce similar outcomes on reliability for much less investment in OM&A?

MR. PASTORIC:  I can't really comment on how Brampton Hydro runs its operation.

The only thing I can go back to is our tabled information today that our dollars per kilowatt-hour is lower than the cohort averages that we've dealt with.

So when you look at our, as you call it, stellar performance, what our customers demand, we are a low-cost provider when it comes to dollars per kilowatt-hour.  So I'm not sure what your point is dividing it up.

MR. FAYE:  Oh, I'm simply pointing out the figures in this chart.

And just to finish this line of questioning, if you could look at PP&E per customer, this next section of the chart, Hydro One Brampton is 9,128 per customer and Enersource is 2,295.  And would you agree that I've read those correctly?

MR. PASTORIC:  They are the numbers, but I can't comment on the context.

MR. FAYE:  I'm only simply stating that Hydro One Brampton appears to be investing less capital per customer and getting out about the same reliability that you are; is that a fair conclusion?

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, I'd have to look over time.  You've picked individual years, and that's why our proposal was over multiple years, to look at the -- the -- we look at it over a period of time, the average, as we've indicated here.

And we really don't know what the customer mix of Brampton is or any of their policies, so it's difficult for me to say that they've got the major equation compared to us.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. PASTORIC:  Frankly, we don't compare ourselves with other utilities.  This has been requested by this process.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'd like to move on to probably my last significant area of questioning.

And if you could turn up page 10 of our compendium, this is Energy Probe No. 8.

And in here, we asked you about the practice of replacing, largely, underground with underground, rather than considering overhead as a -- as a possible alternative.

And I think your response is that you don't charge customers any capital contribution when you replace an underground system, because it's sustainment work on assets owned by Enersource and does not attract a customer contribution.

Have I summarized your response to part (b) correctly there?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MORRISON:  Yes.  In our sustainment programs, we replace like for like.  That's overhead with overhead and underground with underground.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is that a general policy?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  If I was to ask you whether you ever replaced overhead back yard with underground front yard, what would your response be?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MORRISON:  I'm not aware of doing this on any large scale.  I am aware of perhaps one or two homes here or there where it was on the edge of an underground rebuild, and it made more sense and was more economical to convert from those one or two homes to make the system work better.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If we can look at page 11 of the compendium -- and this is the same Energy Probe IR No. 8 -- and in part (c), we asked why it's not feasible to replace front yard underground distribution systems with an overhead system, given the fact that, in part (d), you quoted that it's four to eight times more expensive to put in underground than overhead.

And in part (c) response, you gave us some reasons why you don't think it's feasible, and I'd like to just go through them and make sure I understand them.

The first one seems to concern the tree canopy.  And do I take that to mean that by putting in overhead, you would have to cut some of these trees down?  Or do you have to trim them, or what is the situation?

MR. MORRISON:  You may have to do both.  Most likely you'd have to remove trees.  If the original system was overhead, we would have avoided planting trees right under the lines, and as well, we would have trimmed them year by year.

But if you have an underground system where the trees have been allowed to develop on the boulevard for 30 years, to try to put in an overhead system would be very difficult.

MR. FAYE:  The established standards of undergrounding to which those customers have become accustomed, do I take that to mean that customers expect to have an underground system because they've always had it?

MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  And the residential streets being typically curved, I take this to mean that because poles have to be set on the curves, they have to be held back somehow, and that's this guying easement that you're talking about that would extend on to private property; am I right there?

MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Now, for the undergrounding, do you have trees planted directly on top of your cable trench?

MR. MORRISON:  We try and avoid it, but I'm sure there's lots of cases where there are trees planted over top of our cables.

MR. FAYE:  But in general, you would discourage planting trees on your cable trench, wouldn't you?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes, we do.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So at least the cable trench appears to have some room in it to plant poles; would you agree with that?

MR. MORRISON:  Can you -- can you just clarify the question?  Are you asking to put overhead poles where we have existing underground wires?

MR. FAYE:  Oh, I'm just suggesting that there's at least some area of the boulevard that doesn't have trees in it that would compromise or complicate putting poles in.

MR. MORRISON:  If it's been an underground area that's been developed for 30 years, typically there's not a lot of room left in the boulevard between the communications companies and the water distribution, and the existing -- the existing hydro.  You may find some room, but it would be very difficult.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the process of replacing those underground cables, do you run a separate cable system parallel to the existing, and then take the new -- take the old one out of service?  Or do you cut the system piecemeal and replace bit by bit?

MR. MORRISON:  If we're replacing a rear lot system, it would be --


MR. FAYE:  No, a front lot.

MR. MORRISON:  Front lot system?  It depends.  It can be case by case.  We can do either.

MR. FAYE:  You can do either?  What would you prefer to do?

MR. MORRISON:  If we had the room, it would be nice to  put a complete new system in, keeping the existing system going, and then cut over.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it is possible to take out parts of the system - say between two pad-mounted transformers - isolate that, rebuild it and then reenergize it, then move on to your next section between two transformers?  Have I got that right?

MR. MORRISON:  It is possible but it's not practical.  You can take out the piece between the two transformers because we build in redundancy to our underground system.

However, at the point where you're replacing that underground system, it's generally unreliable and you are prone to failures.  So if you take out pieces of that system for any length of time, customers would be exposed to outages of long duration.

MR. FAYE:  And so then I understand you to say that, in a lot of circumstances, at least, there's room enough beside that cable trench to put in a new cable trench.  That's the only other alternative, isn't it?

MR. MORRISON:  Sometimes there is room.  Sometimes the old cables are deep enough you can go over top of them.
Other times it doesn't permit that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So in some circumstances, you have enough room beside the existing cable trench to dig a second cable trench, put in a new system, and then you can get rid of the old?  In some cases?

MR. MORRISON:  In some cases, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

I think, Madam Chair, that the balance of what I was going to ask are really just elaborations on that theme.  There was a couple of questions on the McNiece relocation and on the Revus Road –- Revus MS relocation, but I can argue it as well as I can question it.

We've got the main points on the agenda right now that I wanted to get on, so that completes my questioning.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine, and you can certainly –- I believe Mr. Aiken is asking further questions for Energy Probe after lunch?  Okay.  So if there are more questions you have, that's fine, but we will rise now and return at 1:30.

Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters before Mr. Aiken begins his questioning?  All right.  Mr. Aiken --


MR. VEGH:  Nothing from the applicant, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

All right.  Mr. Aiken?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon, panel.  I'm going to be referring to a document.  It's the Energy Probe cross-examination compendium B for Panel 1.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps we can mark that as Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM B FOR PANEL 1

MR. AIKEN:  I want to start off looking at the overall level of capital expenditures.  So could you please turn to page 1 of Exhibit K1.3.

Now, let me first explain what is shown in this table that I've created.  It's based on the evidentiary sources noted at the bottom.  The first line is the net capital additions.  That includes capitalized interest.  And just stopping there, am I correct that these are the amounts that are actually closed to rate base each year?

MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, you are correct.  The net capital additions include borrowing cost for CGAAP.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then on the second line, what I've done there is I've subtracted off the impact due to the change of CGAAP to IFRS, so the third line is the net capital additions on a CGAAP basis.

And then I subtract off issues -- or unique capital expenditures, being smart meters and the building advancements, and the result of all of that is the adjusted net capital additions for CGAAP, on a CGAAP basis.

So first of all, do you accept these calculations, subject to check?

MS. GJEVORI:  Mr. Aiken, I was able to double-check these numbers.  I just have for a matter -- just a small change for a matter of clarification.

The first row, that says "net capital additions", include borrowing costs in IFRS basis, they don't differ that much from borrowing costs in CGAAP basis, but I should mention that they are small discrepancies between the two of them.

MR. AIKEN:  And those differences are in the, like, 10, $20,000 per year difference between CGAAP and IFRS borrowing costs?

MS. GJEVORI:  There are a couple thousands' differences.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  Okay.

Now, then the next portion of that table shows a number of averages.  For example, the average over the historical period from 2007 through 2011 is 45,781, while the average over the forecast period of 2012 through 2014 is 46,243.

Would you agree that, regardless of how you calculate the average, the averages are all very close to one another?

MS. GJEVORI:  I agree.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, while we're on this schedule, can you explain the $4 million in building investments shown for 2013 and the $1 million shown for 2014?

MR. PASTORIC:  We provided a response to Interrogatory 8 for AMPCO dealing with rate base 2.1, and the response dealt with, that it's the breakdown for our operational centre at 3240 Mavis Road.  So the 4 million in 2013 and the 1 million in 2014.

MR. AIKEN:  And so is the 4 million for building renovations on Mavis Road and the million is for the paving; is that correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe so.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you can move to page 2 of the compendium.  This is CCC interrogatory No. 4 under Issue 2.1.

Now, starting on the following page and going through pages 5 -- or, sorry, through page 5 of the compendium, we have a list of all the major projects, and Mr. Warren touched on these this morning, along with their forecasted in-service dates.

Now, on page 3 of the compendium, the first page of the list, there are two projects with an in-service date of December 2012.  Now, the first is right below the heading "municipal substation construction and upgrades", at a little over $4 million, and the second is the fourth line from the bottom, with a cost of a little under 1.5 million.

Can you tell us the current status of these projects as of today?  In other words, are they both underway?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes.  Both projects are underway and the in-service date is correct in here.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if we look at the two projects listed at the top of page 3 of the compendium, the first two line items, they both have capital costs shown in 2012 and 2013, and they both show in-service dates of 2013, May and October in particular.

So am I correct that the figures shown in 2002 are not closed to rate base in 2012, but will be included with the amounts shown in 2013 and included in rate base in that year?

MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, the total amount for 2012 for both projects is going to be included in the CIP balances end of year 2012, and we have forecasted that balance.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, is that also true -- I'm not sure if there is any other projects.  Well, for example, near the bottom of that page, I see 1.56 million for 6 Rubin municipal substation upgrade, where there's capital expenditures in 2013 and '14.

Does that mean the 2013 capital expenditures would not be closed to rate base until 2014, where I see an in-service date of May 14th?

MS. GJEVORI:  Dependent on the commencement date of both of these projects, some of the amount, yes, will stay in CIP for each of the years.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, what I really wanted to look at in this list of major projects is the total for each of 2012, '13, and '14.  If you go to page 5 of the compendium, the table does not include a total, but would you take it subject to check that the total for 2012 is 57.9 million, for 2013 is 60 -- sorry, for 2013 is 40.6 million, and for 2014 is 30.9 million?

MS. GJEVORI:  Mr. Aiken, we've provided Appendix 2-A as part of the filing requirements, and that appendix includes a total per each of the major business units.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and we'll be getting to Appendix A in a moment, but my understanding is that Appendix A includes all projects, versus the major projects.

MS. GJEVORI:  Yeah, the major projects are a subset of the Appendix 2-A.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  So I ask again:  Will you take it subject to check that the total of the major projects is 57.9 million for 2012, 40.6 million for 2013, and 30.9 million for 2014?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. GJEVORI:  Mr. Aiken, I accept your totals.  I don't want to check them, but for sure their total would be a subset of the final total given in Appendix 2-A.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and that's actually where I'm going next.

So what I wanted to do was compare the total of these major projects with those shown at table 1 of Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1, which I've included at page 6 of the compendium.  And I just want to walk through each of the three years shown.

So starting with 2012, the figure in table 1 is 63.9 million.  This is before the borrowing cost is added in.  This is $6 million above the total of the major projects.  And if you go to pages 7-12 of the compendium, this is appendix 2A that you referred to, and what I've done there is I've highlighted a number of lines with the X on the right-hand side.  And these lines add up to that $6 million difference between the total and the major projects.

And these line items are generally miscellaneous projects less than $645,000 in a number of categories, plus some things like secondary cable replacements, pole monitor, transformer replacements, major tools, that type of thing.

So stopping there, have I got that right?  If you add up those line items that are marked with an X these are the capital expenditures over and above the major projects?

MS. GJEVORI:  I can't add them right now.

MR. AIKEN:  But subject to check, that would be the difference?

MS. GJEVORI:  I'd assume your math is correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then looking at the same type of comparison for 2013, the total on table 1 is 46.2 million, and the sum of the major projects was 40.6 million, so there's a $5.6 million difference.

And will you take it -- again, subject to check -– that the line items that are marked with the X add up to that $5.6 million difference?

MR. MACUMBER:  I guess what we're trying to figure out is if you take the major projects and take the ones under the materiality limit and you add them together, and if they add to what we're asking for, then yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then moving on to 2014, again, back in table 1, we have a total of 45.4 million, with the major projects totalling 30.9 million.  So now we have a difference of 14 and a half million between the total and the major projects.

Now, this difference is significantly above the differences for 2012 and '13, which were 5.6 to 6 million.  And if you go pages 7 through 12, you will see that we don't have any information, any detailed information, for 2014.

So first of all, would I be correct that this difference of 14 and a half million would also be in those same line items that we've just gone through?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. GJEVORI:  Actually, the majority of differences is related to the same items, but I should mention that for the category "subdivision rebuild," which is the third bucket, somehow in the first report that has in-service dates, we're missing a couple of rebuild projects.

But they are included in appendix 2A in detail.

MR. AIKEN:  So is there a version of appendix 2A that's been filed that shows the level of detail for 2014 in the same level of detail as in -- this is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5?

MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, it is.  Appendix 2A was amended after the technical conference to include 2014 detailed projects.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Back on the list of major projects, are any of these projects discretionary in that they could be delayed by a year or two?

MR. MORRISON:  Some of the reliability sustainment projects can be delayed, but as you delay them, you introduce more risk, and more chance that there will be increased outages and your reliability numbers will go up.

MR. AIKEN:  Similarly, what portion of the capital expenditures that are not major projects would be considered discretionary in that they could be delayed from one year to another?

MR. MORRISON:  It's difficult to say what a percentage is, but there's -- there's projects that are for the safety of our employees and the safety of our customers, or for connecting new customers, and those are completely non-discretionary.

The other ones, for increasing the operational efficiency of our system and for our reliability, to some extent they are discretionary, but again, it just increases the risk, and if we delay those projects, we may increase outages.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm moving on to the issue of capital contribution.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, just before you do, I just wanted to make sure I understand a point that Ms. Gjevori made earlier in your questions on this section.

Am I correct in understanding that in looking at page 3 and 4 of Energy Probe's compendium, which is the reproduction of the CCC interrogatory with the in-service dates, am I correct that what you said is that this section "subdivision rebuilds," there actually should be more major projects in there that just -- they were not captured in this table, although they do appear on the appendix 2A; is that --


MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So therefore the totals for major projects that you accepted subject to check and Mr. Aiken put on the record -- which I understood to be the totals of the columns in this -- are off by some amount; is that correct?

MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.  The actual appendix 2A has the full list of all these projects.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So should we, if we are -- Mr. Aiken, should we get an accurate figure for major projects for each of these three years?  Is that -- do we need that?

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  It probably would be useful if they could update the list of major projects, because my understanding of it was that the ones that were missing were for 2014.

MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, and only for that particular category.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And can we see those?  Are those apparent in this -- oh, but we don't have...

MS. GJEVORI:  They are.  Page 9 of the same compendium.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  I have that.

MS. GJEVORI:  So the first project is the 800,000 project, and that's Sherobee Hurontario apartments rebuild. It starts from that project, and all the way down, the amount have been specified in there is.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So that's one, two, three... those eight projects, yeah?

MS. GJEVORI:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So those are 2013, and so those should have been reflected on this interrogatory response, but aren't.  And are there also projects for 2014 that --


MS. GJEVORI:  Actually, appendix 2A that is in the screen, it's not the updated appendix 2A.

We -- as part of the technical conference, we had to update this appendix with the 2014 projects information.  And appendix 2A can be found under the IR responses, under JT responses, and I'll find the reference.

It's JT1.4.  So it's shown on the screen.  It starts from the project called Remea Court rebuild, 932,000, and down.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So those two -- so that group of projects, and then in the prior column, that group of eight or so projects which Mr. Killeen is helpfully circling, those are missing from the CCC interrogatory response of major projects; is that correct?

MS. GJEVORI:  Only the 2014 projects.  2013, they are listed in the first response.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So it is just those, the 2014.  All right.  So if we added those, then the total for major projects for 2014 would be higher by the amount of those projects.

MS. GJEVORI:  Which will be close to 8.1 million.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So instead of 30.9 it's closer to 40 million, for the total for that year for major projects.

MS. GJEVORI:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to the issue of capital contributions, if you could turn to response to part (D) in Exhibit I, Issue 2.1, Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 3, I've added -- or I've included this in the compendium, pages 13 to 15.

I had asked for you to show the customer contributions in each of the tables to see what the contributions were related to, and you've done so.

So if you look at tables 4 and 5, there are no contributions forecast for 2012 and '13 or '14.  And you've only received contributions related to these capital expenditures in one year, historically; is that correct?  One year shown historically.

MS. GJEVORI:  table 4, the only customer contribution that shows in there is the payment to Hydro One to build one of the TSs.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, okay.  That is the contribution --


MS. GJEVORI:  That Enersource made to Hydro One.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So this is your contribution, this is not a contribution to you, in table 4?

MS. GJEVORI:  No.  That's why the sign in there is positive, and it gets added to the capital expenditures.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then in tables -- in table 7, you are showing some modest contributions related to the FIT and microFIT programs.  And in table 8 there are no contributions because these capital expenditures are for items like vehicles and building, software, hardware, that kind of stuff; that's correct?

MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So then, if we go back to table 6, I take it that this is where most of the contributions you receive show up, and in particular, these contributions are related to new subdivisions, road projects, and industrial and commercial services; is that correct?

MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you now turn to page 16 of the compendium.  This is a summary of the capital expenditures and contributions received in 2007 through 2011 and the forecasts for 2012 through 2014, based on the table 6 that we were just looking at.  I've added the ratio calculations and the total 2007 to 2011 column in this table.

Now, in aggregate, you're forecasting $2.8 million in contributions in each of the forecast years.  In the industrial and commercial services line you're forecasting an increase in the ratio from 49.7 percent, which is the average for 2007 through '11, while for the other two categories you are forecasting a decline in the ratio.

So my first question is:  Can you explain what is driving each of these three trends, one being up and two being down?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. GJEVORI:  As we have mentioned in the pre-filed evidence, Enersource Hydro Mississauga has received considerable amount of customer contributions in the '80s and '90s when there was enough green space to build new subdivision and put in industrial and commercial services.

As the green space, it's not there anymore, we forecast that the amount of contributions would go -- would be lower in each of the forecasted 2012 to 2014 year.

Also, when we had -- when we forecasted these contributions for each of the categories, we looked at the blend of projects that we had in pipeline for all of these three categories to determine the appropriate amount of contributions that would get from third parties.

Mr. Aiken, you already have done the averages from 2007 to 2011, but I'd like to mention a couple of anomalies that would skew that average.

First of all, the new subdivision ratio for 2007, we have in there we received 19 -- 97.8 percent of the total capital expenditures on that particular year, and that was due to the final -- the timing of final costing of offer to connect and alternate bid for that particular year.

As you can see, the other years, they have much lower averages of those contributions.  So we redid the calculation, and if you take, let's say, 2008 to 2011 average as the total customer contribution, we arrived where we are, at 2.8 million.

And if you take the average of 2009 to 2011, the latest three years, we actually -- based on those formulas, we should reduce the amount of contributions that we have forecasted for each of these three years, '12, '13, and '14.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you agree that there's a high and direct correlation between the amount of the contribution and the level of the capital expenditures in each of the three areas?

MS. GJEVORI:  It depends on each of the projects.  For example, in 2011 we had a one-time project with Metrolinx, that we charged them 100 percent of the total cost.  Normally for road projects we'd charge based on -- based on the Highway Traffic Act, I believe.  We will charge 50 percent of labour cost.

So that actually, it's another example that the amount of customer contributions that we received for road projects in 2011, it's abnormal compared to all the other years, because it includes this one-time projects with Metrolinx, as I said, which was 100 percent cost recovery.

MR. AIKEN:  But my question was on -- not project-specific but year-specific, for the years included in your evidence, so 2007 through 2011.  Do you agree that there's a high and direct correlation between the amount of a contribution in each of these areas in relation to the capital expenditures in each of these three areas?

MS. GJEVORI:  There is a relationship, but as I said, it depends on the type of projects that is in the pipeline for each of these years.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, as you've mentioned, on the next part of the table, I've calculated the contributions for 2012 through 2014 if you used the average ratio from 2007 to 2011.  And that's where you get the numbers 3,416, 3,103 and 3,060.

Do you take it, subject to check and subject to argument, that those numbers are properly calculated?

MS. GJEVORI:  I'm sure your math would be all right, Mr. Aiken, but as I said, in your average, you have included -- and I've mentioned the reasons why there are two anomalies.

2007 offer to connect is extremely high.  That's why it's driving the average to be really high for offer to connect at 44.4 percent.

And also, the one-time project for 2011 in the road project category, that drives the average to be higher for this particular category, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Have you ever attempted to quantify the relationship between the contributions and the capital expenditures on a year-by-year basis in each of these three areas?  For example, through a correlation analysis or even a simple regression analysis?

MR. MACUMBER:  The way our contributions work is we do perform the economic evaluation, and it depends on the type of customer that's coming.  And we take 25 years of the revenue requirement compared to the capital additions.

I think what we're trying to say is if you're taking the average from 2007 to 2011, trying to extrapolate into the future, what we're trying to say is that most of our green space have been filled up.  So your new subdivisions where you've got $1 million of contributions, we're only going to get that with single-dwelling homes.

By the condos that are going in, the amount of capital that we need to spend and the amount of revenue from the condo residents, we won't be getting much contributions.

So to say that this is going to continue in Mississauga is misleading, and it would be hard for me to extrapolate from prior years' experience.

MR. AIKEN:  But isn't that reflected in your capital expenditures for new subdivisions?  For example, if you look at the 2012 to 2014 forecast, you've got 2.4 to 2.2 million a year, and that's down from 3.3 million in 2011 and those other numbers in the previous years.

So what you're saying is already reflected in the reduction in your capital expenditures?

MR. MACUMBER:  And what we're trying to say is by the type of customer that's going to be coming on, we'll be getting less contribution.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, okay.  Is the type of customer in 2012 significantly different than it was in 2011?

Because you've got a 33 percent reduction in the capital expenditures -- or, sorry, in the aid to construct between those two years?

MR. MACUMBER:  When I'm looking at your chart here, and I got new subdivisions and we spent 3.3 million on capital, and the contributions in aid of construction of 933, which is 28 percent.

So we forecasted 24 percent, because we say the capital is even further going down in the future for new subdivisions.

So we're trying to suggest that the contributions will be less, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  All right.  I am turning to the issue now of setting rates for the two years.

Am I correct that Enersource believes that there are two primary reasons for approving your proposal, the first being that a smooth -- the amount of the one-time rate increase for rebasing years that may occur under the current model?  And secondly, that it provides more accurate compensation for the cost of capital?

MS. DeJULIO:  That's -- that's right.  We have addressed this in -- I believe you've pulled up response to an interrogatory from CCC, Issue I.1, IR No. 1.

And our response is, indeed, the two reasons.

I can expand ever so slightly on that, to add that Enersource believes that this is a fair approach that can address the disconnect currently, whereby Enersource invests money every single year in its capital program, and the ratepayers certainly benefit every single year from those investments in the form of reliability, continued reliability, continued service quality.

And this proposal will help to remedy that disconnect between ratepayers enjoying the benefits and shareholders not receiving the compensation for making those investments during those IRM years.

MR. AIKEN:  You mentioned Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, and I've got that on page 19 of my compendium.  Could you go there, please?

Part (c) of the question asked you to indicate the primary purpose of the alternative approach proposed, and specifically asked if it was rate smoothing or the generation of adequate returns of the capital investments.

And if you turn to page 20, you will see that the answer to part (c) actually answers the question in part (d).  And so it appears that part (c) does not -- was not actually answered.  So could you answer it now?

MS. DeJULIO:  The primary purpose?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. DeJULIO:  Our purpose is twofold, and our --


MR. AIKEN:  So you give them equal weighting?

MS. DeJULIO:  We do.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And if you could turn to page 18 of the compendium, this is from CCC IR No. 1, Issue I.1.

Am I correct that this is basically a graphical representation about rate smoothing for customers?

MS. DeJULIO:  This is a graphical representation as presented to our board of directors back in November of 2011.

And the green bars show the rate increases for Enersource's distribution charges in a relative fashion.  We have reflected in the years 2009 to 2012 those IRM increases, and you might recall they were 1.18 percent in 2009, 0.18 percent in each of 2010 and 2011, and then 0.88 percent in 2012.

The bars for 2013 and 2014 reflected at the time this presentation was made what we would be forecasting might be our rate increases for the distribution rates that we were soon to be filing in the next six months.  And we show with that red line, you know, how that cost for Enersource has risen steadily from, you know, the baseline of 2007.

So this is a graphical representation of the difference or the disconnect between what our rate increases have been in that time versus what our costs have been.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that your concern or your issue with the customers is that the customers saw small increases in 2009 through 2012, and they're going to see a much larger increase in 2013?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  Thank you for saying that.  It's exactly the case.

There's a significant step increase expected in 2013.  And as I said earlier this morning to Mr. Warren's questions, we believe that that is not palatable for the ratepayers; we believe that these nominal rate increases for three, four years here, and then a relatively larger step change is -- it's confusing for ratepayers, and it's difficult for them.  It's somewhat unpredictable.

And we believe that if we could smooth that, those rate increases, and make them a little more predictable and certainly more palatable for ratepayers, we believe that this application would be -- would be successful for the ratepayers in that regard.

MR. AIKEN:  A question on the cost increase line.

Why do you have it going from 2008 to 2014, rather than 2008 to 2013, which are the two rebasing years?

MS. DeJULIO:  The purpose of this presentation was to show our board of directors the relative changes over this period of time, and this period of time included 2014 because of our proposed -- our expectation that we would be filing for a two-year rate application.

MR. AIKEN:  But I thought your concern was the customers' reaction to the increase in the rebasing year, which is 2013.

MS. DeJULIO:  That is a concern, and what -- I'm sorry.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DeJULIO:  As I'd mentioned earlier today, we expect, you know, the same scenario if -- and perhaps even more pronounced, in terms of the difference, the next time we would be coming to the Board for a rebasing.  So presumably, if we followed the current mechanisms, it would be four years hence we would see again another step change.

And so what you're seeing in this diagram for '13 and '14 is something mitigated, a little less of the -- a little less of that step change that we would see four years hence from '13.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it from that that if we could go back in time, would it be your position that the rate increases shown for 2009 through 2012 should have been a little bit higher so as to reduce the gap between the rate increase and the cost increase and to reduce the increase between 2012 and 2013 for ratepayers?

MS. DeJULIO:  Our proposal is not talking about the past.  You know, we can't change the past.  What we are proposing is, going forward, at least for the years '13 and '14, to make the rate -- our revenue requirement and the resulting rates a little more reflective of the actual investments that are made by Enersource with respect to capital, and we believe, of course, that that would reflect in much more palatable rate increases for the ratepayers, versus seeing another large step rate increase by the time we were to come back for our next cost of service rate application.

MR. AIKEN:  So if we were to take this graph and change the years, instead of going from 2007 to 2014, and look at it in the future, 2012 to 2019, I take it your proposal is that the green bars, starting in what would be 2014, would be higher, so that when we get to 2018, the next rebasing year, the change between the level of the bars would be closer to your red line and closer to an average increase of the same amount every year.  You don't want to see this pattern repeated in the future.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DeJULIO:  It's very difficult for us to comment on, you know, what we would see in '15 and '16 and '17 and '18 and '19, I think you were asking about.

What we are proposing is to recover for '13 and '14 the investment that Enersource makes in its capital and the return on that.

It's only for two years, but we think it is a fair way to address these challenges in capital investment.  And we expect that this will result in a mitigation of rate increases for the ratepayers as you go forward -- as you go forward, and by the time we come in for the next rate application for rebasing.

MR. AIKEN:  Isn't part of the concept of incentive rate-making to sever the link between revenues and costs?

MS. DeJULIO:  I'm sorry, I can't answer that.  I don't know.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree that your proposal is based on maintaining a link between revenues and costs by trying to more closely align rate increases with cost increases?

MS. DeJULIO:  We are certainly trying to address the disconnect right now between those capital investments that are made by Enersource and the fact that ratepayers enjoy those investments, they benefit from those investments, for the years, the IRM years, and -- but don't compensate the shareholder for them during the IRM years.

MR. AIKEN:  So is it your position that customers would prefer to see a larger increase in 2014 and perhaps '15 and '16, and then -- sorry, that they would rather see a larger increase in 2014 and perhaps '15 and '16, so that they don't have a big increase when you come in to rebase again?  That's the rate-smoothing you're talking about.

MS. DeJULIO:  Right.  You know, I don't think it would be fair of me to say customers would prefer to see a rate increase.  I suspect that if we asked that in a survey they would all say no to that.

I think, however, customers find the current mechanisms or the resulting rates from the current mechanisms very difficult to deal with, because of the relative -- relatively flat rates that they experience for distribution charges, albeit over a three- or four-year period of time, and then what amounts to a -- you know, a larger, much larger, step rate increase.  I think that those -- that model is difficult for ratepayers.  I think it's confusing for ratepayers.  And this proposal tries to mitigate that confusion, mitigate that step rate increase.

MR. AIKEN:  Did you receive a lot of negative feedback when you rebased in 2008?  First of all, was there a big increase in 2008 rates, compared to your rate increases in the previous years?

MR. MACUMBER:  It wasn't.

MS. DeJULIO:  I'd have to turn to my colleagues.  I was not at Enersource in 2008.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, there was an increase in 2008.  In 2006 we had filed -- or late 2005 we had filed a historical test-year cost of service.  So rates were set on 2004.  In 2008, yes, we had a rate increase.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, that was part of my question.  The second -- the first part was, did you get a lot of negative customer feedback, that they didn't understand why the rates were going up so much.

MR. PASTORIC:  I too wasn't here in 2008 except 'til the end of the year, but I would say that since I deal with the customers quite a bit, the customers did comment, but in our surveys, but again, they see more from a value point of view, and they rate us on a value point of view, versus the step change in the whole bill.  So I can only comment on the value equation versus the, you know, the 11 percent of the bill that we are.

It's difficult for them to distinguish between the two.  They're continuously giving us feedback regarding changes in the bill and changes in pricing, which is happening very rapidly now.  Going back to 2008, it would be very difficult for us to indicate that it was that isolated issue that caused their continuously providing us feedback dealing with their displeasure with rate increases.

MR. AIKEN:  And I assume you would accept that customers for the most part don't know what's going to happen with 2013 rates at this point in time?  So you've got no negative feedback from them for something that hasn't happened yet.

MR. PASTORIC:  Frankly, I'm not sure what happens in 2013 yet either, so it's difficult for a customer to predict what it is.  And they're providing feedback to us that any change is bad, and that -- the only feedback I can -- I can categorically say is, in the 14th annual survey that we did, which just came out in June of 2012, our value proposition went up.  We had a B-plus two years ago.  We're now at A, which our consultants indicated that was unusual, because we're such a small part of the bill.

They're trying to bring back that -- because of the other factors we provide value to, that they also see value in the overall product that is delivered.  So I can only go by those comments.

Being -- forecasting the future, it's impossible for me to forecast into the future.

MR. AIKEN:  If we move on to the second rationale for your proposal being the compensation for the cost of capital, could you turn to page 21 of the compendium, which is Exhibit JT1.15, that was referred to earlier this morning?

But before I get to what these figures mean, I want to ask a few questions on how they were calculated.

In particular, if we look at 2010 as an example, there's a significant increase in the net income between the actual net income of 14,353 and the figure of 21,464 on a deemed basis.

What's that 50 percent increase driven by?

MR. MACUMBER:  Fifty was only -- the deem -- when we were in the technical conference, it was asked:  That was our actual return and what would have been the deemed return?  The deemed return is only showing what our return would have been had we rebased.  Had we submitted a cost of service, that would have been my deemed net income.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, is that how you interpreted what the question asked for?  Because it asks for --


MR. MACUMBER:  You asked for an actual return on my equity and a deemed number.

So we showed the deemed number, what it would have been had I done a cost of service, and my actual return.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, first of all, this was not my undertaking, but my understanding was they were looking for the actual rate of return, and then the deemed, on the deemed equity.

Because your actual capital structure is different than your deemed capital structure; is that correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, you can see there my actual actually was 204 in 2010, and my deemed would have been 217.  So if I took 14 actual net income over my deemed equity, my return would have been less.

MR. AIKEN:  I'll have to think about that.

But the actual -- sorry, the return on equity baked into your 2008 rates was based on a rate of return on equity of 8.57 percent; is that correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  Our 2008 cost of service had an 8.57 return, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now -- and Ms. DeJulio mentioned this this morning, as well, the fact that you asked for a delay in your IRM application for a year.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And you sent a letter in to the Board, dated April 1st, 2011, and as part of the justification for asking for that delay, you indicated that your actual return on equity for 2010 was 8.15 percent.

And my question is:  What's the difference between that 8.15 percent that you told the Board back in April of 2011, and the 7.02 percent that now shows up for 2010?

MR. MACUMBER:  As you can see there, we’ve excluded conservation and demand or OPA funding and our smart meter recognition, and any other kind of non-utility expenses.

MR. AIKEN:  And so those differences make up the 113 basis point difference?

MR. MACUMBER:  They make up the difference between what we submitted, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The final area -- or the second-last area I have questions on is the appropriate approach to the set rates for 2015 and '16.

Now, am I correct that you've provided no proposals in either your evidence, in interrogatory responses, undertaking responses, or in your testimony at the technical conference?

MS. DeJULIO:  Just to repeat, yes, what we have said -

MR. VEGH:  Sorry to interrupt, Ms. DeJulio.

I see one of our panel members, has -- one of our witness panel members has left.  May I request a brief adjournment to just investigate what's going on, and I can bring him back?  I apologize for this.

Or if you would -- if your question --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Maybe somebody could just go and make sure he's okay.  And we'll just --


MR. AIKEN:  I don't think I was that bad.

[Laughter]


MS. CHAPLIN:  He was not responding to this series of questions, so if we can continue, that's probably...

MR. MACUMBER:  Thank you.

MS. DeJULIO:  Perhaps Mr. Aiken can repeat his question so we can get back on that track.

MR. AIKEN:  Sure.  It has to do with how to set rates in 2015 and 2016, which is at issue in this proceeding.

And my question was whether or not I was correct that you've provided no proposals in your evidence, in the interrogatory responses, undertaking responses, or in the technical conference transcripts, as to how this would be done?

MS. DeJULIO:  That is -- excuse me, yes.  We did not give an opinion on what would happen in 2015 and 2016, simply because there is just too many unknowns.  Of course, unknowns with respect to the inputs, for example, in a regular IRM mechanism, but secondly, we are expecting some sort of decision from the Ontario Energy Board on its RRFE initiative, and the outcome of this application, as well, is a huge unknown.

So combined with all of those unknowns, it would be premature to make any kind of proposals for '15 and '16.

I believe in one of our responses in an IR, we certainly acknowledged that the continuation of IRM as we know it now is certainly a possibility.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

Then my final question has to do with the various account that you were talking about this morning.

And I think you indicated that it would be asymmetric, based on expenditures or the forecast expenditures in 2014; is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.  Asymmetric in that Enersource would take the risk if it were to overspend relative to the budget it has forecast for 2014, and would not ask for -- to recover those expenditures by going back to ratepayers and clearing that variance.

The only -- what we are proposing in the variance account is if we were to underspend, based on our forecast, we would be very, very willing to return that money to ratepayers.

MR. AIKEN:  So what if you underspend in 2012 and/or '13, so that your opening rate base in 2014 would be lower than what you are forecasting?  Would that be covered in the variance account, as well?

MS. DeJULIO:  No.  We answered that -- a question similar to that this morning, and that is 2012 is under the IRM model and 2013 is under the cost of service model.

The standard cost of service, we are not deviate -- we are not proposing to deviate from that at all.  And that, of course, amounts to a risk either way, that a utility can under or overspend, and that's the risk that, you know, distributors must live with under that cost of service model.

MR. AIKEN:  But I'm talking about your 2014 rate base.  If your 2014 rate base opening balance is less than what you're forecasting, why wouldn't that be reflected in the variance account the same way that your closing 2014 balance would be adjusted for, as in your proposal?

MR. MACUMBER:  Enersource's intention is not to over-earn.

We believe that if we need to reset our rate base and earn the appropriate rate of return, depreciation and PILs for our capital expenditures in rate base for 2014, we'd be willing to do that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So you would accept a variance account based on rate base in 2014, rather than capital expenditures in 2014?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we're trying to say is we make investments in our system and we're trying to look for the return, depreciation and PILs on those investments, and if we need to reset something to make it, for what we're tracking in a variance account, to track that correctly, we would do that, because we don't want to over-earn or under-earn.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.
Questions by the Board:

Just before we go to Mr. Shepherd, Ms. DeJulio, can I get you to turn back to page 18 of the Energy Probe compendium, which was the CCC IR No. 1 under Issue I.1?

MS. DeJULIO:  I have that.  That's the slide "OEB model"?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  It's the bar chart and line representation.

And you described the numbers for 2013 and 2014 being the forecast at the time that this presentation was created.

So would those still be accurate based on the application as it is today, in terms of the extent of the rate increase and cost increases for 2013 and 2014?

MS. DeJULIO:  They do not reflect the current application.  These were certainly just indicative bars at the time.  And as it turns out, no, our rate increases are actually less than that in 2013.

If you look at on a relative basis, the rate increase, for example, for a residential customer...

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DeJULIO:  I think it's roughly 6 percent for 2013 for a residential customer.  And then actually for 2014 it's ever so slightly a decrease of .3 percent.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So essentially, if you were to redo this chart - and I am not asking you to do that - just so I understand the gist of it, the bars for 2013 and 2014 would be essentially the same height.

MS. DeJULIO:  Oh, to each other?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, to each other.

MS. DeJULIO:  They would be roughly the same height, yes.  Certainly with the level of accuracy of this chart, yes, they would look the same.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And they would both be lower than currently the bar for 2013.

MS. DeJULIO:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So it's not so dramatic a picture any more.

MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. PASTORIC:  Madam Chairman, I'd just like to apologize for my departure and then quick response.  About a week ago my counsellor said not to drink a lot of water at lunch.  Unfortunately I didn't take his heed last week, so thanks.

MS. CHAPLIN:  You've learned the hard way.

Okay.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  At what time do you plan to break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, sometime in and around 3 o'clock.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But I'll leave that to you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll indicate an appropriate time if I think of it.

Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

I want to start with your CVs.  And I didn't hear this morning whether your CVs were given an exhibit number.  And if they weren't, could they?

MS. HELT:  They were not given an exhibit number.  We can do so.  K1.4 will be the CVs of the members of witness panel number 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  PACKAGE OF WITNESS CVs FOR ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am also going to refer to a compendium of materials that we have also provided to the Board and filed on RESS and provided to my friend.  I wonder if I could get that marked as an exhibit as well.

MS. HELT:  Certainly, Mr. Shepherd.  That will be K1.5, and we will provide a copy to the Panel members.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, witnesses, I want to find out a little more about how it works internally as Enersource, and I want to start by finding out first from each of you who is your actual employer.  Maybe we could start with you, Mr. Pastoric.

You're the senior person on the regulatory side of the Enersource business; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're the sort of the head of the utility.

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are employed by the utility?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who do you report to?

MR. PASTORIC:  The CEO of the corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be Mr. Fleming?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you also report to the board of directors directly on utility matters?

MR. PASTORIC:  There are two boards.  One is the wires board, and then the corporate board, so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes to either or both or --


MR. PASTORIC:  Well, I report to both boards.  I am present to both boards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The -- now, the wires board is more of a routine-matters board?  The main decisions are made at the Enersource Corporation board; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if the Enersource Corporation board wants a budget for the utility or something like that, you would present that; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have any non-utility duties?

MR. PASTORIC:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so 100 percent of your time is allocated to the utility.

MR. PASTORIC:  The wires business, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you say "the wires business", that's the regulated business; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's no part of the wires business that we would say is unregulated.

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then let me turn to you, Mr. Macumber.  Mr. Macumber, you're employed by Enersource Corporation; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are the, basically, the CFO.

MR. MACUMBER:  No, I have a CFO that I report to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Who's the CFO?

MR. MACUMBER:  Norm Wolff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're -- you directly report to Mr. Wolff, who in turn reports to Mr. Fleming; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Wolff also is employed by Enersource Corporation.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any reporting responsibilities within the utility?  Do you report to somebody within the utility?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the same question as I asked Mr. Pastoric.  When finance matters are presented to the board of directors, do you present them or not?

MR. MACUMBER:  Typically to the audit committee I present financial information.  To the board, that would be Norm Wolff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And do you have non-utility duties?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just describe them very briefly.

MR. MACUMBER:  I do the financial statements, so we have a regulated/non-regulated business.  I oversee their financial forecasts, their -- essentially, everything they do to run their business, financially, I get involved in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And of course, you're responsible for corporate finance too, for things like -- like bond issues and stuff like that?

MR. MACUMBER:  I get involved in that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- and that's for the whole company, that's not just for the utility.

MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what percentage of your time is allocated to the utility?

MR. MACUMBER:  I wouldn't go with time.  We --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Cost.

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that the cost for 2013 is about 93 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just -- this is going to come up in panel 2, but since you'll be on it anyway, I might as well ask you while I'm thinking of it.

You say you don't want to look at time.  Why?

MR. MACUMBER:  I just don't think time is a good factor of how we allocate the money.  I'll -- currently I'm spending much more time than 93 percent on the hydro company right now.

What I would say is, each year when we do our budget, we decide on what services are being provided and what's the rationale for allocating the cost out.  We don't track the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'll come back to that in panel 2.  I don't want to waste time here.

Ms. DeJulio, you now are director of regulatory affairs; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are employed by the utility company, Enersource Hydro Mississauga; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who do you report to?

MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Dan Pastoric.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you report directly to Mr. Pastoric.  And do you also have reporting responsibilities to the executives at Enersource Corporation?

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, Mr. Pastoric is an executive of Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  So that's where my reporting responsibilities lie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that wasn't my question, sorry.

MS. DeJULIO:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But often when there are multiple corporations and they're closely intertwined, as here, there are reporting requirements to the other corporation as well.  So, for example, you might have a reporting requirement to Mr. Macumber or to Mr. Wolff or somebody like that.

MS. DeJULIO:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  None?

MS. DeJULIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And do you have any non-utility duties?

MS. DeJULIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, and what about reporting to the board of directors?  And again, I'm talking about the Enersource Corporation board of directors, not the wires company board.

Do you have responsibilities to provide information and report directly to the board of directors?

MS. DeJULIO:  I -- as I mentioned, this report -- this presentation to the board of directors on November -- in November of 2011 was one of the only -- I think I've only made two presentations to our board of directors of Enersource Corporation in the three-and-a-half years that I've been with the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So normally it would be Mr. Pastoric that would present that kind of information to the board members.

MS. DeJULIO:  That's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And -- all right.  Then let me turn to you, Ms. Gjevori.

Now, you are also employed by the -- by Enersource Corporation; right?

MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who do you report to?

MS. GJEVORI:  James Macumber.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you're -- do you report to anybody in the -- most of your work is for the utility; right?

MS. GJEVORI:  Most of it, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you report to anybody at the utility?


MS. GJEVORI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your job is capital manager.  Tell me what that is.


MS. GJEVORI:  So basically I'm in charge of costing.  So my team, they do costing for capital projects, for recoverable projects.  We do provide analysis to the operations group regarding variance analysis and information pertaining to budget and that sort of stuff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But -- and -- and most of that would be for the utility?

MS. GJEVORI:  Most of it, yes, but I do some work relating to services side, doing costing and invoicing for their part of the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, but that's small; right?  I mean, what percentage of your -- of your cost is allocated to the utility?

MS. GJEVORI:  I don't keep track of my time, but as part of the finance group, my time gets allocated, as James said, as part of management fees get allocated to both hydro and services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what -- what percentage of your costs gets allocated to --


MS. GJEVORI:  For 2013, 93.5 percent, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it the same as Mr. Macumber?  Is the whole --


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, it is.

MR. MACUMBER:  We allocate out -- we allocate out the services company -- or the corporation's cost, either by headcount or by revenue, depending on the business unit.

Finance gets allocated out by revenue, and it works out to be 93.4 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  Okay.  And so -- so if most of your work, Ms. Gjevori, is related to the -- to the utility, how does your work -- who do you answer to at the utility?

There's a people at the utility, like Mr. Pastoric, who are responsible for this stuff that you're doing; right?  Who do you answer to?

MS. GJEVORI:  My team provide assistance regarding financial analysis and detailed information for costing to both -- to all the business unit managers in both hydro and services side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're sort of like a consultant?

MS. GJEVORI:  No.  We provide assistance to the operations groups, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And I -- I take it that you don't report to the board of directors on anything; right?

MS. GJEVORI:  No, I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've already discussed your non-utility duties.  Thank you.

Then, Mr. Morrison, we haven't heard much from you, Mr. Morrison, yet.

Now, you work for the utility; right?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your job is -- has no component of it that relates to non-utility work; right?

MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who do you report to?

MR. MORRISON:  Mr. Pastoric.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so, because of the nature of your job, you don't really have any responsibilities to report to anybody at the parent company; right?

MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And all of your -- all of your time -- all of your cost is allocated to the utility?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

And Mr. Nunes -- Nunes?  Is that right?

MR. NUNES:  Nunes, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nunes.  Okay.  I think I got that wrong at the technical conference too.  Sorry about that.

MR. NUNES:  It's okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Nunes, now, you also work for the utility; right?

MR. NUNES:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that surprised me a little bit, because your job does include stuff for the non-utility business; right?

MR. NUNES:  We do provide services for them, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of your responsibilities is to look after the IT needs of the 52 people at Enersource Corporation; right?

MR. NUNES:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you directly report to Mr. Pastoric?

MR. NUNES:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But presumably you must have somebody at Enersource Corporation that you also have to report to, given that you're the person responsible for their IT needs?

MR. NUNES:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?

MR. NUNES:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so aside from looking after hardware and software and things like that for the -- and strategy for the -- for Enersource Corporation, do you have any other non-utility duties?

MR. NUNES:  I don't think so.  I can't think...

MR. MACUMBER:  We maintain the laptops for the services company.

MR. NUNES:  Yeah.

MR. MACUMBER:  And the software we use.

MR. NUNES:  Any hardware and software that they use, but I think that was implicit in my response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Yes.  And are you also allocated out at 93 percent to the utility?

MR. NUNES:  I actually don't know.

MR. MACUMBER:  No, IT is -- we allocate certain costs from IT to the regulated -- or, sorry, the non-regulated company or the corporate head office, depending on -- I believe it's headcount that we use.  And it's only a certain amount of costs that get allocated.

We have certain IT costs that we direct a hundred percent to the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what's the overall percentage of Mr. Nunes' costs that are allocated to the utility?

MR. MACUMBER:  I actually don't know off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it in the evidence somewhere?  Would I find it somewhere if I looked?

MR. MACUMBER:  It is in the evidence how much we allocate of IT costs out.  I believe it's around five to 600,000 dollars we allocate out to the regulated -- or to the corporate head office on the non-regulated side.

MR. NUNES:  Right.  I believe Mr. Shepherd's question was about how much of my time or how much of mine -- of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. NUNES:  And I don't know that I've ever seen that number.

MR. MACUMBER:  You don't do time sheets.

MR. NUNES:  No, that's right.  So it's an IT cost that's charged to them, not Danny Nunes specifically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your capital costs for these -- for IT are allocated on the same basis?

MR. MACUMBER:  If we make an investment in a system that the corporate head office or the non-regulated company would use, we would charge them out our rate of return, which is similar to what we would charge our ratepayers on that investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's cost recovery?

MR. MACUMBER:  It's cost recovery, but we add a rate of return to it.  We call it a return on asset charge.  We actually charge -- the hydro charges out a profit on the investments like it would to a ratepayer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Madam Chair, the next area I'm going to go into is going to take a while, so if this is a good time to break for the Panel, that would be good for me.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine.  We'll break now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:15 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd, just before you begin, I do realize that this room is becoming increasingly warm as the afternoon progresses, so if anybody would like to make themselves more comfortable, please feel free.

MS. HELT:  And Madam Chair, perhaps I can just deal with one administrative matter.  We had marked as Exhibit K1.4 the CVs of witness panel number 1.  I understand that we are going to be referring to the CVs of all of the witnesses, and they were filed together as a package on August 23rd.  So if we can just correct that as, Exhibit K1.4 will be the CVs of all of the Enersource witnesses.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd, whenever you're ready.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So let me start with -- and you talked about this a little earlier today, and I just want to make sure I understand, because I'm a little bit confused.

If you take a look at page 1 of our materials, Mr. Macumber, you were asked during the technical conference -- excuse me.  The materials you presented to your board, which you provided in an IR response, that was your 2012 budget; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you say here, but you didn't present your 2013 budget or your cost of service application to your board.  [Coughing]  Go ahead.

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we didn't get approval from our board for our 2013 cost of service.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, should we take a short break?  Okay.  We'll just stand adjourned for five minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:17 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:21 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Okay.  Let's continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My apologies, Madam Chair.  It was obviously taking off the jacket that was a shock to my system.

Mr. Macumber, you see on page 1 of our materials that you discuss the fact that you haven't presented the 2013 budget to your board of directors, but you have made a presentation on this application to your board of directors; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPERD:  Is that in the evidence somewhere?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we didn't file that.  We presented it in June.  I don't believe we actually filed it in the evidence.

MR. SHEPERD:  In June of this year?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPERD:  So after it had already been...

MS. DeJULIO:  Let us check if we did file that.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MACUMBER:  No, I don't believe we filed it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This was in June of this year?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the application was filed in April?

MR. MACUMBER:  April 27th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the board of directors didn't approve it; they just heard about it afterwards; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So could you turn to page 17 of our materials?

This is a question by Mr. Garner right at the bottom of the page, who approved the rate application, et cetera, et cetera, the board of directors, the CEO.  And Ms. DeJulio, you said the executives, the president, and ultimately you presented it to your board of directors.  That's on the top of the next page.

But I take it you're not -- you're not implying there that your board of directors approved it, because of course they didn't; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was actually approved by your CEO, Mr. Fleming?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, it is -- yes, it was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I heard, earlier today, Mr. Macumber, I think, say -- sometimes I couldn't tell on the feed who was talking but I think it was Mr. Macumber, saying that your board of directors knew the CEO was approving the application.

Is that you?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.  They give the authority to approve a rate submission to Craig Fleming, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so when you say they knew he was approving the application, you don't mean any particular application; you just mean they knew he had authority to do that?

MR. MACUMBER:  And they knew we were filing for a 2013 cost of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they knew that how?

MR. MACUMBER:  We told them in November that we were filing a cost of service with a January 1st, 2013 start date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that was at a board meeting?

MS. DeJULIO:  We have gone over this on the -- in the November 2011 presentation to the board of directors, that I was -- present for that presentation.  And it was for information purposes to the board of directors that we were filing this application, but we also advised them at the time that it was going to be for two years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was the -- that was the -- we have that presentation, which is your 2012 budget presentation; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, it was actually the meeting before that.  The 2012 budget presentation was after the presentation about the rate app.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So earlier today you were asked several times the same sort of question.  I didn't think you got a straight -- the questioners got a straight answer, so I want to make sure I understand completely.

You're not filing this two-year application in a non-standard way because you're going to be in financial difficulty in 2014; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  We are not going to be in financial difficulties in 2014.  We do not forecast troubles, financial troubles, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whether or not the Board approves your 2014 proposal?

MS. DeJULIO:  There is no financial difficulties here at all being discussed or proposed or addressed at all.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Earlier today, a number of times you talked about the reasons for this unusual proposal, and one of them which you talked about with Mr. Aiken just a few minutes ago was smoothing rate increases.

And the more I heard of that, the more I didn't understand.

Do I understand -- am I correct in understanding that this is sort of like a layaway plan?  If you get higher increases earlier, then you'll get lower increases later, so it will be smoother?

MS. DeJULIO:  I would not have characterized it that way, and I'm sure my colleagues wouldn't either.

This is really not as complicated as some folks might be perceiving this to be.  It's simply an approach, a proposed approach that will address the need for smoothing what would otherwise be step rate increases in the rebasing year, as it currently is modelled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  And what I'm trying to understand is:  Which smoothing are we talking about?

And I couldn't get from your discussion with Mr. Aiken what the answer to that was.

It's not smoothing the 2013 rate increase; right?  It's 16 percent?  It's still going to be 16 percent regardless?

MS. DeJULIO:  I don't agree that it's going to be 16 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, whatever.  15 percent, then.  It doesn't matter.

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, I'm sorry, it does matter, though.  It matters to our ratepayers what amount that is.  And as I explained earlier, it's roughly six percent for the residential ratepayer in 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the overall deficiency, how much is it?  What's the percentage?

MS. DeJULIO:  The overall deficiency, I don't have that in front of me.  I can ask my colleagues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, why don't you undertake --since you think it's six percent, is the rate increase, why don't you undertake to provide to us with the overall deficiency, percentage of distribution rates, the current rates -- which is the overall rate increase; right?  For 2013?  Can you undertake to provide us with that number?

MS. DeJULIO:  I believe we do have the deficiency in the evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just didn't want to make you do math on the stand.

MS. DeJULIO:  That's fair.  That's fine.  We can pull up the deficiency, though, if that would help.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want the percentage.  You said it's six percent?

MS. DeJULIO:  I said –- no.  I said that the overall bill impact for 2013 is roughly six percent for residential customers consuming 800 kilowatts -- kilowatt-hours per month.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for that one customer?

MS. DeJULIO:  For that type of customer, the residential.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the overall rate increase?  It's not six percent; right?  It's more?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say "overall," what are your -- what's the criteria that we're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The standard criterion, Ms. DeJulio - which you're well aware of, I'm quite sure - is deficiency divided by distribution rates at current -- distribution revenues at current rates; isn't that right?  Isn't that how you get the overall percentage increase?

MS. DeJULIO:  I assume that that's the number you're asking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DeJULIO:  If that's the calculation that you would like us to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DeJULIO:  -- conduct?  We can pull up the evidence and take a look what the deficiency is.  We'll divide it by the basis -- is that what you're asking for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you would know this, so I'm...

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, we have the evidence in front of us, so we can certainly pull that up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you'll undertake to provide that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Can we pull up the evidence?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You want to do it right now?

MR. VEGH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, you keep going back and forth.  When you ask for the undertaking, she offers the undertaking, and you say:  You should know this now.  She says:  Well, let's pull it up and look at it.  You say:  No, give me an undertaking.

Which do you want?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have only asked for an undertaking, Mr. Vegh.  Only.

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, can we -- can I ask Mr. Killeen to pull up our evidence?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. DeJULIO:  Right.  Now, we have updated this deficiency.  Was it in the undertaking -- I think it was in the undertakings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the most recent revenue requirement work form?  I'll do the math for you.

Okay.  Can you tell me where the most up-to-date revenue requirement work form is?  As far as you're concerned?

MS. DeJULIO:  I have written down here, Mr. Killeen, Board Staff IR No. 4 or 5 for an update to the revenue requirement. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'd prefer if I just -- if we didn't spend this much time on this, if we just got an undertaking.  I'll be back tomorrow anyways, so -- it looks like, and so I can follow up if necessary tomorrow.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, if they can find it quickly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It just seems to be taking a long time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I understand that.  But we are also trying to make use of the technology, so if we can find it quickly, we will do it that way.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think we're going past the time in which they could be done expeditiously.  So that's fine.  We'll take an undertaking and...

MS. DeJULIO:  Perhaps we should have that described for us, then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  What's the overall rate increase, which is defined as the deficiency, the current deficiency, that you believe you're asking for from the Board right now, divided by distribution revenues at current rates?  And both of those numbers are in your most recent, if you have an up-to-date one, revenue requirement work form.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE OVERALL RATE INCREASE BEING ASKED FOR CURRENTLY, THe Current deficiency divided by distribution revenues, at current rates

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that -- we got off on a tangent there.  I apologize.  What I'm trying to understand is, the way you're smoothing is not to reduce rates for 2013 or 2014.  The way you're smoothing is to increase rates so that you can have lower increases in the future; isn't that right?  That's the smoothing you're talking about?

MS. DeJULIO:  It certainly is different from what we would have expected under IRM if the future was anything like the past, when IRM rate increases have been, as we have described, nominal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, it was a yes/no question.  Can you start with the yes/no question and then give the explanation, please?  I'd really appreciate it.

MS. DeJULIO:  I am trying to answer your question.  I wouldn't characterize it as, you know, an increase now to avoid -- well, perhaps you could repeat how you were characterizing that for me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The smoothing you're talking about is, increase rates more in the short-term so that you will have lower increases in the long-term; is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  Presumably we are mitigating that, what we expect would otherwise be a large rate increase.  So that would likely be lower in the future for something a little higher in the -- in the -- in the first year, that '14, 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer to my question is yes; is that right?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Let me...

Another thing you -- another reason you said this would be a valuable thing to do, this two-year application, is, you said this morning a number of times, Well, the Board will learn from it.  It's like a -- it's like a small -- a baby step, if you like, which allows the Board to learn from your experience in doing this.  That's what you said earlier; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, we certainly didn't use the term "baby step", but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MS. DeJULIO:  -- we did describe this as an opportunity for the Ontario Energy Board to learn from Enersource's experience if the Board were to approve this application as proposed.

We believe it's probably the right time to try this interim approach when we know that we're in a relatively stable environment with respect to our capital expenditures, and that experience coming out of the implementation of this proposal would give the Board information on how to address the challenges of the capital investment that is required, particularly four years from now, when we think it's going to be significantly greater than it currently is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this would be like a pilot project, almost.

MS. DeJULIO:  If you want to call it a pilot project, you can.  We just think it's an interim approach.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this something that the Board suggested to you or anybody at the Board suggested to you?

MS. DeJULIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is something that you thought up on your own; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, it is.  Yes.  We talked about it at Enersource, the need to address these large increases in rates, relatively large, every four years.  We know that it's difficult for us to charge those kinds of rate increases to our ratepayers, and at the same time we - and we've said this several times - we thought it would be more fair for the shareholders to be compensated for their investment in capital, at least for this one year, as it occurs, because ratepayers do benefit from that investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're familiar with something called the DRRTF?

MS. DeJULIO:  I am familiar with that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it true that this -- this proposal was something that was discussed at the DRRTF and proposed as part of a plan of all of those utilities?  Is that right?

MS. DeJULIO:  The DRRTF, for the benefit of those who may not know, is the distribution regulatory reform task force, if I've got the right word for the acronym DRRTF.  Enersource is a member of that.  And in fact, there are nine members:  The CLD members, as well as Hydro One, Enbridge, and Union Gas.

This proposal from Enersource was certainly not created by the DRRTF, and it was not vetted by the DRRTF.  But if you see similarities in themes, that's because Enersource is a member of the DRRTF, and our experience and challenges with capital are not unique.  In fact, all of the members of the DRRTF are expressing the same type of challenges with capital investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to page 2 of our materials.  And this is your pre-filed evidence from April.  And in that excerpt you quote the Chair of the OEB with respect to the challenges facing the sector, particularly capital spending.  And you agree, right, that capital spending is a -- is a big sort of train coming through the tunnel at you?

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, that sounds so fatal.  So I don't think it's quite that horrible.  But it is a big issue now, and it will be an even bigger issue four years from now.

And that will be the beginning of what we suspect is several years, a long-term period, during which the capital requirements for investing in our system will be very demanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, your view is this is much discussed in the industry right now, this problem with capital spending; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  It certainly has been a very critical subject of discussions among the members of the DRRTF.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to turn to page 19 of our materials, and this is an excerpt from the technical conference transcript, the first day.  And you're -- you're asked about this same question.  And you say: 

"There are conversations going on in the industry and discussions and consultation to look at the treatment of capital."

This is what you're referring to; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  And I was also thinking specifically about the RRFE initiative at the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, which you've characterized as an initiative about capital spending; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  I'm sorry?  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You characterized that as an initiative about capital spending; right?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, about capital spend, and how to set rates in -- and also how to set rates in that context.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So back to page 3 of our materials.  We asked you about your quotes from the Chair.  We asked you, what's the evidentiary value of that?  Are you intending that the Board rely on this in some way, that the Chair of the Board has said these things?  And you refused to answer that, so I wonder if you can answer that now.

Is this intended to have evidentiary value?

MR. VEGH:  The reason for the refusal, Madam Chair, was that the question of the evidentiary value of the statement of the Chair of the Board in her speeches is really a matter of legal argument.  It's a legal issue.

So when you're asked about whether a statement is being offered as proof of the contents of the statement or whether the statement is being offered for some other legal purpose, it's ultimately a legal issue.  And the objection -- the objection simply states that that's a legal argument; it can be addressed in legal argument.  I'm sure the Panel will ask for that.

And then the statement -- the response to us goes on to say that the Board can take notice of statements of the Chair.

So the objection is just a recognition that we are involved in issues of legal debate which are properly the subject of legal argument, and that's why I interrupted, because the question is basically asking the witness to set out a legal theory upon which these statements of the offer -- the statements of the Chair of the OEB are being offered up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with respect, my friend is entirely incorrect.

The question of whether a statement is being presented as to proof of his -- of its contents -- that is, is it being presented to say:  This is what somebody said?  Or that the contents of what they said are true?

That's a factual question:  Why are you telling us this?  And we're allowed to ask that in cross-examination.

Whether they're allowed to -- whether they're allowed to put it forward as proof of its contents is a legal issue.

What they're intending to do is a factual question.  I'm afraid my friend is incorrect on the law on this.  It's fairly straightforward.  I'm allowed to ask:  What do you intend by this statement in your evidence?

MR. VEGH:  If the question is simply what does Enersource intend by statement, and -- in the evidence, and the witness can address it, getting into a debate about whether it is being offered for the proof of its content or for some other legal purpose is the subject matter of the objection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm asking the question:  Is Enersource intending this Board to rely on this statement as proof or as evidence that there is a problem with capital spending in the industry?

MR. VEGH:  Do you have an answer to that question, or...

[Witness panel confers]


MS. DeJULIO:  We included that statement from the Chair in our evidence to provide some context for the current challenges Enersource finds itself.

And we believe that this statement from a very credible member of the industry, being the Chair of the Ontario Energy Board, stating that there is a major challenge facing the sector today, and quoting -- and noting specifically it's:

"...the scale of capital spending expected over the next few years from most utilities, generators, transmitters and distributors..."

Which is what Enersource is:

"...to renew and modernize the system and provide for new demand."

We think that that provides very useful context, and certainly agrees with the position that Enersource is taking in our application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure I actually know whether the answer to my question was yes or "no."

I'm asking, actually, a very binary question.  Are you proposing that this Board Panel accept that statement as the truth or not?

MS. DeJULIO:  I -- I wouldn't know -- I could not say that the Chair is not speaking the truth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your answer is yes?

MS. DeJULIO:  My answer is my expectation that the Chair of the Board, in making a public statement, would be speaking the truth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's good.  That's very helpful.

Now, I think this question is probably to you, Mr. Pastoric, although anybody can answer it.

On October 13th, 2011, on that morning, there was a meeting in your office between the Chair of the Board, Rosemarie Leclair, and Enersource executives, including Mr. Fleming.

Were you at that meeting?

MR. PASTORIC:  No, I was not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know who was?

MR. PASTORIC:  Mr. Fleming.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And he was the only one?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, perhaps Mr. Shepherd could establish the basis for this question before --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Microphone?  I couldn't hear, sorry.

Yes.  Throughout the evidence, there are -- there are a number of suggestions that somehow the Board has already accepted that there is a problem here and it has to be fixed.

We just heard, in fact -- excuse me -- we just heard the witness, which is why I asked the question, say:  Oh, yes, when the Chair says there's a capital spending problem, that's the truth.  You should treat that as fact.

And we don't agree that that's fact, and we don't agree that that -- that there is, in fact, such a problem.

If, in fact, this strategy came about because the Chair talked to them and suggested to them that the Board policy was to accept that capital spending was a problem, then we need to know about that.

And we know that the meeting existed.  We know that the regulatory strategy was then formulated.  And so this 

-- it is appropriate for us to ask what involvement was -- in that regulatory strategy developed, did that meeting have.

And that's what we're asking.

MR. VEGH:  And Madam Chair, if I may respond, the proposal here --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't actually think your microphone is actually on, Mr. Vegh.  Your light may be on, but maybe you could push the button a couple of times?

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  The issue here, of course, with respect to the 2014 year is whether or not the Board will approve the -- the treatment of capital that's being proposed.

The reason for the -- for Enersource's request has been repeated now about a dozen times.  And the --Enersource's statement on its future expectations of capital investment have been pointed out to you, as well, specifically with respect to the asset management plan.

The Board will make its determination, this Panel will make its determination on the basis of that evidence.

I can't see how trying to capture information about a meeting between the Chair and an industry stakeholder sheds any light at all on this Panel's need to determine whether or not the 2014 ICR proposal is appropriate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if I could respond just briefly?  My friend's -- my friend's client has -- a secret meeting existed.  We know that.  It's been admitted.  Between Mr. Fleming and Ms. Leclair.  My --


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, I don't like to interrupt, but the qualifier of "secret" --


MS. CHAPLIN:  We will deal with that later, Mr. Vegh, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- my friend has brought this into issue by quoting from the Chair and saying:  You should accept it as the truth.

Once they did that, I'm allowed to impeach that evidence.  That's what I'm trying to do.  If there was a meeting which they won't tell us about and we can't find the information about what happened there, then that's the way -- that's the avenue to impeach this information.

So they brought in the issue; I didn't bring it in.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And at this point, you were wanting to know the content of the discussions of that meeting?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Between the Chair and Mr. Fleming?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And that is what Enersource is objecting to providing?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, Madam Chair, on the basis of relevance to the issues in this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will say, Madam Chair, that I will not -- I don't want anything in about the meeting that is not about this regulatory strategy for 2014.  Anything that's about anything else, I'm not interested.  Just that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  One moment, please.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, we would like to have the opportunity to deliberate on this matter a little more fully than we can do from the dais, so we we’ll adjourn now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:52 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:07 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Thank you.
RULING:

The Board will allow the question as stated by Mr. Shepherd.  I'm just trying to find the reference.  I don't have it right in front of me.  But in any event, we will allow the question.

Our conclusion is that, given that Enersource is relying on statements of the Board and statements of the Chair in particular, that it's relevant to understand the context and relevant to understand the potential role any discussions might have had.

We would also note that the meetings between the Chair and LDCs were not secret, and as we would allow questions on any discussions Board Staff might have had with an applicant, we consider it appropriate to allow questions on any meeting an applicant may have had with the Chair.

So Mr. Shepherd, could you repeat your question, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  First, I apologize for implying that it was somehow clandestine.  I didn't not mean that.  "Secret" was perhaps too poetic a word.  I apologize.

The question is, can you provide us with information on what was discussed in that meeting that relates to the structure of this application.  And in particular, I'd like to know sort of right now, if you could, what did Mr. Fleming tell you about the meeting?  Obviously he talked to you about it, because you knew about it.  And secondly, were there notes or minutes or presentations or something like that that we could see that would talk about these things?

MR. PASTORIC:  I can only refer to my knowledge, and we weren't part of the meeting.  The only briefing we were told is that the framework would be discussed with the industry and that there were being meetings.

We had no detailed information regarding the discussions, and there was no implied intent back to our application.  That was separate and distinct to -- to my knowledge, compared to our application.

At no time did Mr. Fleming instruct us to do anything differently to our application from that meeting, and I believe -- what time did you say the meeting was, which date?

MR. SHEPHERD:  October 13th, 2011.

MR. PASTORIC:  At that point in time I don't believe there was any changes to our strategy.  We had been talking about it for some time.  So I personally can't say that there was any implied directional change or anything of that nature in Enersource's strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So no changes to your regulatory strategy after October 13th, 2011.

MR. PASTORIC:  There were no changes to our strategy even before that date, so I would say that that date had no impact to us at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Mr. Fleming is actively involved with you in setting regulatory strategy, yes?

MR. PASTORIC:  He makes his comments known, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could undertake to provide any notes, minutes, or presentations from that meeting that refer to your regulatory strategy.

MR. PASTORIC:  Either notes or minutes, he will produce it if the Board wishes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If there are none, that's fine.  But if there are any --


MR. PASTORIC:  To my knowledge, there are -- there are none.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could look and undertake --


MR. PASTORIC:  We can look into it.

MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, if I may just suggest a refinement to the undertaking, because it's quite broad, requesting notes and minutes that relate to Enersource's regulatory strategy, and I would suggest that a more appropriate question, in light of your ruling and the evidence in this case, is notes or minutes relating to regulatory strategy adopted in this application, as opposed to just a generic regulatory strategy.

But I'm in your hands, Madam Chair, as to whether or not the broader question is an appropriate one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm happy with that amendment, Madam Chair.  I think that's what I intended.  But I would want to clarify that when I'm talking about notes and minutes and presentations and things like that, that includes something like an e-mail from Mr. Fleming saying, I just talked to the Board, and she said do X, and so that's what we're going to do, or something less obvious than that, but same concept.  Okay?

MS. CHAPLIN:  So any communications flowing from the meeting?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Again, that relate to this application.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  With the narrow focus.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And that's --


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE ANY NOTES, MINUTES, OR PRESENTATIONS RELATING TO REGULATORY STRATEGY ADOPTED IN THIS APPLICATION

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I want to move to a new area.

MR. VEGH:  And if you're moving, Mr. Shepherd, just for your assistance, I believe that the witnesses do have an answer now to the undertaking that you requested.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, excellent.

MS. CHAPLIN:  This is J1.1?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  Excuse me.  May I please ask Mr. Killeen to pull up Enersource's response to an IR?  It's Board Staff general issue IR No. 3, and it's on page 3 of 12 in the Appendix 2-C(i).

So I'm looking at the section called "utility income", number 2.  And if you look at the distribution revenue at current rates is 114.704, if we talk in thousands of dollars.  And below that is the distribution revenue at proposed rates, and that amount is 131.676.

The delta there is 16,972.  And if you divide that 16,972 over the current rates of 114,704, the increase is 14.8 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  That's excellent.

So I wonder if I could turn to -- to the question of your capital spending.  And if you could look at page 4 of our materials.  This is from the first day of the technical conference, page 80.  And Mr. Macumber, you're talking, and you're talking about the fact that your capital expenditures are significantly in excess of depreciation.  And that's -- that's the reason why you're saying it's fair to the shareholder to have this 2014 adjustment; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm suggesting that's one of the reasons why we believe that setting rates this way would be just and reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the other one being smoothing.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, it's true, isn't it, that third generation IRM already provides money to utilities for additional capital spending; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  There's an ICM module, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about that, I'm talking about, the formula itself already includes in it a provision for additional capital spending; isn't that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That -- well, the idea behind a third generation is to have your whole revenue requirement adjusted, would assume that your capital spend would be roughly equal to your depreciation or at a 1 percent or a .18 percent increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not actually true now, is it, because your whole -- your whole revenue requirement for rate base, based on rate base, which is about what, a third of your revenue environment, something like that?  It's a big chunk of your revenue requirement is based on rate base; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- and that whole amount, that whole amount of your revenue requirement, is increased by the inflation factor; right?  The net inflation factor after productivity.

MR. MACUMBER:  And the stretch.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the stretch; isn't that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  The whole revenue requirement is adjusted, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in fact, didn't the board conclude that there should be a threshold for the ICM precisely because IRM already gives you money?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think the threshold was put in place to say that it needed to be non-discretionary and it needed to be quite a bit in excess of your depreciation or your capital -- typical capital spend to come in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the board didn't say in its report that IRM already provides you with substantial amounts of money.

MR. MACUMBER:  I think the board report said that an IRM would reflect capital spend, OM&A increases, et cetera.  What we're saying is, it's not sufficient to give the return and the depreciation and PILs that we're looking for for 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, isn't it true that if you just do the math in a normal utility like yours the IRM model already provides you with enough money for 130 percent of depreciation in new capital spending; isn't that right?  130 percent, isn't that the number?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm not sure how that math is being calculated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, do you know the -- do you know the answer?  Do you know what the number is?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can assume that our 2012 rate increase was 0.88 percent.  If I take that, multiply it by my revenue requirement for any kind of depreciation, OM&A increases, et cetera, it didn't cover off of what I needed for 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your answer is you don't know what the -- what -- how much IRM already provides you, do you?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can tell you how much we had in our revenue requirement, but relating that to capital and depreciation, I cannot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the reason you don't know that is because you didn't do any calculations as to just how much IRM would provide you in additional revenue for capital spending, did you?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I think we have mentioned that in our evidence, that we did not do any calculations what IRM would look like in 2013 or 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?  Because you didn't know what IRM was going to look like?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  Well, we don't know the inflation factor -- I've mentioned this before -- we don't know the inflation factor, whether or not there would be stretch or what cohort are we in.  There's a lot of factors that go into it.

What we're suggesting is that we believe that this was a better method for Enersource to get a return on its capital that it was investing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, and I saw where you said "better," but you didn't do the math on the Board's conventional approach, did you?

MS. DeJULIO:  No, we didn't.

MR. MACUMBER:  Not for 2014.  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't understand how you can say your proposal is better when you didn't even compare the two.

MR. MACUMBER:  No, I think what we're saying is it's better because the amount of money that we're spending, we should be getting a return on, and that return, if we've done the forecast, we would get that return, rather than relying on a formula.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what Mr. Aiken was talking about earlier -- which is you wanted it to be based on costs, not on a formula?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we're saying is it would be more accurately reflective of our investments, if that's what we're trying to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your problem is not with capital spending?  Your problem is you don't like IRM, period; right?

Because it doesn't give you -- it doesn't track your costs?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we're -- well, the thing is even how we presented our evidence, we're not asking for a full cost of service.  We're asking for the investment and the return.

So we're not saying that IRM's bad or not.  We're trying to say this accurately reflects our investments we're making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you want -- hmm...

So, for example, if you make capital investments in new customers and they provide new revenues, you want the Board to give you extra money for the capital investment, but you don't want to give a credit to the ratepayers for the revenues that come from those customers; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think all we're suggesting is, to simplify the process, is we've added our capital additions.  We've added the return and the taxes on that.  And we're keeping everything else constant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are, in fact, going to have more revenues; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  We have forecasted that we have additional customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And additional revenues; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  There could be additional revenues from those additional customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't want the customers to have credit for that.  You want to add on an additional cost to the customers, but you don't want to give the credit for the additional revenues you're getting naturally; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, again, I think that what we're trying to suggest is that because we're not doing a full cost of service, I'm going to have extra costs that will probably outstrip any additional revenues I'll have from those customers.

What we're trying to suggest is the capital I'm investing, I'm trying to look for a return on those investments.

MR, SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're going to have additional costs, but you haven't told the Board anything about those costs, have you?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, we provided in our pro forma statements what we believe our 2014 costs will be.  Yes, we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so you've done forecasts with support for a cost of service basis for 2014?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  We supplied the information for the pro formas that was requested.  We have -- we did a detailed, bottoms-up budget for '13 and '14.

We are just not requesting recovery of those costs, other than capital depreciation and the tax effect on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to page 5 of our materials.  This is from your prefiled evidence in April, but this is still, I think, correct.  Tell me whether it's not correct.

You have a little table here, table 1, that -- that talks about the additional cost of capital resulting from your investments -- your increases in rate base over the IRM period; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, this is trying to show the amount of annual capital investments and the lost return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it shows each year your lost return; right?  3.47 percent in 2012; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's interesting, because - because I -- we couldn't figure out how your cost of capital would go from 7.2 percent in 2009 to 14 percent in 2012, and so we asked an interrogatory.  And that's on the next page, Interrogatory No. 12 from School Energy Coalition, under Issue 2.1, in which you expanded the table to show us the stuff that was missing.

And it turns out that those additional cost of capital numbers, those cost of capital numbers aren't annual at all; they're cumulative, aren't they?

MS. DeJULIO:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yeah.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that 3.47 percent, that's not a one-year impact; that's a four-year impact, isn't it?  That's comparing 2012 to your 2008 approved –- Board-approved; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then -- I mean, I have to ask the question.

Did you realize that this was misleading when you filed it?  I mean, I assume not.  I assume that it was just an oversight, that you didn't include the full explanation.

[Witness panel confers]


MS. DeJULIO:  We certainly did not intend to mislead anyone.  There was -- there was no intention to leave any information out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that the total amount of lost cost of capital over those four years is just over $7 million?  Will you accept that, subject to check?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yeah, it is roughly 7.3 or 2, something like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually -- it's actually less than seven, isn't it?  Because if you look at the next page, you've got $448,000 for the IFRS adjustments, so you have to adjust for that; right?  Because if you want to make an apples-to-apples comparison, you can't include that 448, can you?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would accept that, that it's -- the IFRS impact would have to be removed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So a $7 million impact over four years, your total revenue over those four years is in the neighbourhood of $500 million distribution revenues; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  $500 million...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Over four years?  Or maybe 460?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. MACUMBER:  It would be four-something.  I can't -- I can't tell you that off the top of my head.  I mean, if I assume that I'm asking for 130 today, then -- and I had supposedly 114 in 2012...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It's in that range.

And it's true, isn't it, that the total cost of capital that you lost over four years was about 1.4 percent of your -- of your revenue requirement?  Isn't that right?  It's just seven million divided by 460?  1.5 or so, 1.4, 1.5?

Am I in the ballpark?  That's all I care about.

MR. MACUMBER:  Just for the fixed asset parts, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  Okay.

And as a result -- you know, Madam Chair, I'm going to go on to a new area.  Would you like me to start it, or do you want me to start it again tomorrow morning?

MS. CHAPLIN:  How much longer will you be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I had indicated earlier that I would slop over -- my direct terminology -- to tomorrow, and I expect a good hour tomorrow morning.  We'll still be within the nine hours that we originally forecast.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Okay.  We will -- hang on a sec.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, we're happy to continue until 5:00.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Until 5:00.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, but -- but Mr. Vegh, do you think your witnesses would prefer to start fresh tomorrow morning, or would they be more keen to press on in hopes of finishing?

MR. MACUMBER:  Thursday.

MS. DeJULIO:  Actually, Thursday morning.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Or, sorry, Thursday.

[Mr. Vegh confers with witness panel]


MR. VEGH:  I think the witnesses are indicating that they're prepared to keep going.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, let's continue, just because we are aware that we have -- we have made it clear that we are limiting this hearing to four days, so we want to ensure that we have time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Witnesses, I wonder if you could turn to page 13 of our compendium, and this is from the technical conference, day 1, page 44.  You have that?  Oh, and it's on the screen too.

And starting about page 6 -- line 16, Mr. Faye is talking about what constitutes just and reasonable rates.  And Mr. Faye says, and I'll quote this:

"For most people, I think, just and reasonable rates from the customer's perspective is lowest reasonable rates you can get while still getting reasonable reliability."

Now, so my first question on this is:  Do you agree with that principle?  Is that how you look at -- at your rates?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we're saying -- suggesting, just and reasonable rates, is that there's reliability, there's customers, there's employees, there's the shareholder.  We have to factor all that into our equation, and just and reasonable rates would mean that we produce a safe, reliable power at a reasonable return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm not sure that that's responsive, so let me go through it bit by bit.  You'll agree that you can't have just and reasonable rates unless you have enough money to get reasonable reliability, true?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would suggest that from a customer's perspective, you're -- you want to pay for some type of reliability, and I would agree with your comment that you're going to have to pay some amount for reliable service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that level of reliability should be a reasonable one.  You can spend infinitely to get more reliability; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I suppose you could spend to try to improve your reliability.  We're spending to maintain our reliability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But there is a level of reliability that you think is reasonable, your customers think is reasonable.  That's the level of spending you need; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And is it true that for the rates to be reasonable, they would be the lowest rates that you would be able to live on to get that level of reliability; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  If technology works.  I guess earlier today we talked about what we see as our sort of efficiency equation, that we have to take our total costs.

So what we look at is our total dollars we spend on the customer over the throughput, if you want to use the throughput as kilowatt-hours or kWs.  Now, when you say, you know, what's reasonable, that's a cost allocation process after you get down to the lowest cost per kilowatt or cost per kilowatt-hour.

So we've already demonstrated that we are in the low category, if not the lowest category of the utilities.  So after that it's a cost-allocation question of, does residential customers have a certain percentage, compared to large users.  That's the secondary question after we've boiled down our costs per kilowatt-hour.

MS. DeJULIO:  I just want to add that certainly it is up to the Board to decide what is just and reasonable in setting rates, and Enersource simply is providing as much evidence as possible for the Board to be able to make that decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But you are the one who asked for certain rates; right?  The Board didn't say, Here's a set of rates.  Please ask for them.  You asked for them; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  We have supplied our information for 2013 cost of service and 2014 incremental capital and return.

I think what you're asking is, does reasonable -- does reasonable rates always mean the lowest cost?  No.  Sometimes we have to spend money for other reasons, such as installing smart meters.  There's not always the lowest cost option is the best option for reliable power that we have to deliver.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That a good answer.  Let me understand this.  Aside from smart meters, can you tell us why you would spend more than the lowest cost that you could spend in order to get a given level of reliable service?  Why would you spend more than the lowest you need to?

MR. PASTORIC:  We believe we are.  Essentially what we're looking at is the service levels that our customers expect is 24/7 trouble trucks, 24-by-7 control room.  So the costs that we're looking at is, we believe, is prudent.  When we do our analysis, frankly, I was a little bit surprised on how low we were, because we don't compare ourselves to other utilities.

We look at every business decision as capital and OM&A:  Is it a prudent decision to make for our customers?  I must say I was presently surprised at where we ended up on the categories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was following up Mr. Macumber's answer, because he said, no, sometimes you don't get the lowest possible cost.  So other than smart meters, give us an example.

MR. MACUMBER:  There could be tonnes of examples.  Putting in a computer system, you might not go with the lowest vendor, because they don't have the support.

Sometimes you may have to go to a recruiter to find the right fit, because you can't find it on a website, Workopolis, or whatever it is.

Sometimes you don't make decisions just because it's the lowest cost.  You have to make costs that seem to be the best over a longer period.  So it's not always the lowest cost that is the best for the ratepayers or for the shareholders or employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying the lowest cost -- life-cycle costs is the goal?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is our goal, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

So if we talked about this principle that Mr. Faye has presented to you as the lowest life-cycle costs to get a reasonable level of reliability, you would agree with that; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what he's suggesting is the lowest reasonable rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I just changed it because you didn't like "rates", so I said, okay, let's not talk about rates, let's talk about costs.

MR. MACUMBER:  It's not what he said, though.  I'm agreeing with you, but that's not what he said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go to page 8 of our materials.  And this is the start of a discussion you had, Mr. Macumber and Ms. DeJulio, with a number of us over the period of ten or 15 minutes, in which we asked you whether -- and starting with Mr. Faye, we asked you whether you had analyzed other approaches to setting rates other than your proposal, and you said, No, we don't -- we don't have any information on other proposals.  We haven't calculated what it would be under third generation IRM.  We're not interested in that.  Is that right?

MS. DeJULIO:  I don't think we used the term "we're not interested".  We certainly did advise that we have not provided comparisons, other calculations, or other analysis under other mechanisms for the 2014, for that second year.  We've provided our proposal that we call ICR, and we think it's a fair proposal for the Board to consider.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have nothing that you can give the Board to help them compare it with anything.

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, we have all of the information in our evidence and responses to IRs.  We think that the Board does have information that can help it to make that decision, to make a judgment on this proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The question is, do you have anything in your evidence that allows the Board to compare this, your proposal, to third generation IRM?

Either you do or you don't.

MS. DeJULIO:  We have not provided information on third generation IRM for 2014.  We have not provided any assumptions that the Board might want to make in making that kind of an analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we asked -- if you go over to page 14 of our -- of these materials, page 45 of the transcript from the first day of the technical conference.

And by this time, Mr. Faye had given up and Ms. Girvan had asked some questions, and then I jumped in and I tried to ask about this.

And my understanding -- and tell me whether this is right -- is that you had made no attempt to ascertain whether the company could live within third generation IRM?

MS. DeJULIO:  You know, that is -- that is not what Enersource is proposing.  Enersource has said we have a challenge with capital, and we thought:  Okay.  Let's come up with a proposal that would address those challenges.

It's -- as we said, it's an interim approach.  It's only for a second year.  This is not completely unheard of at the Ontario Energy Board.  There have been other applications that are multi-year that I understand the Board has approved, other multi-year applications.

So we came up with our own proposal that would help to address that challenge of capital.  We did not provide any information about an IRM in 2014 for the purpose of a comparison.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that you didn't provide anything.

And I guess what I don't understand is why you didn't see whether you could live with the existing methodology without asking for a special -- for any special treatment.  I don't understand why -- I mean, this is taking a lot of time and effort; right?  And presumably, it took you a lot of time and effort to put it together?

I don't understand why your first step wouldn't be:  There's a system in place.  Can we live with that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Well, I think we did answer in one of our IRs that certainly our first consideration for preparing a year in advance for this application was to follow the filing requirements to the letter for one year cost of service.  That was certainly considered.

But we took the conversation a little broader to address the challenges that we have as a distributor and, frankly, what we understand other distributors in the industry have.

And that is the investment in capital and the challenges that we have on that.

So it's a matter of principle.  This application is to address that challenge, and the IRM does not address that challenge.  It's a completely different mechanism.

And that's why we've put it aside and come forward with this proposal as an attempt to address our concerns with capital expenditures and those being recognized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the purpose of your application for 2014 is to address a flaw in IRM?

MS. DeJULIO:  I'm not calling it a flaw in IRM, because that suggests that, when it was designed, there was a mistake.  I'm not saying that there was a mistake in IRM.

I am saying that now, in 2013 -- or 2012 and 2013, we have challenges with respect to our investments in capital, and we also are quite certain that those challenges will grow in time.  And so we are trying to present an option that the Board can consider to address the challenges that Enersource is facing, in a time when we're in a relatively stable period, knowing that there will be, within four years, five years, a much greater challenge with respect to capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have a forecast of your capital spending for the next five years?

MS. DeJULIO:  I believe we provided it for '15 and '16.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a strategic plan, though; right?  Which has capital spending in it?

MR. NORRIS:  Our asset management plan, we do have forecasted out our capital spend, out to 2016.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what's the evidence reference?

MR. MORRISON:  That is Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 2, and I believe it will be starting on page 124.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Thank you very much.

You recall a discussion at the technical conference about a proposal in the third generation process from Professor Yatchew?  I can never say that.

Do you recall that discussion?

MS. DeJULIO:  I recall a discussion.  I recall it didn't go very far.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So Professor Yatchew proposed something in the third generation process that would decouple capital spending from the IRM.

And you were asked by a number of people during the course of the technical conference:  How is your proposal different from the one that the Board has expressly rejected in third generation IRM?

And you refused to answer.

We -- if you would take a look at pages 20 through 23 of our materials -- no, sorry, 20 through 22 of our materials, you'll see the exchange in which we asked:  How is this different?  And ultimately, Mr. Vegh said:  We'll hear about it in argument; he's not sure whether it will be in argument in-chief or reply.

Do you see that?

MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm asking you again:  What's your position on how this relates to the proposal from Professor Yatchew that was rejected by the Board already?  How is it different?

MS. DeJULIO:  I have to give you the same answer, that I have not reviewed or read the proposal by Professor Yatchew.  I have not studied how the Board responded to that.  I have not made a comparison between Professor Yatchew's statements or the Board's interpretation of that and our proposal here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to -- on page 78 of the transcript, page 22 of our material, Mr. Vegh says:

"We may get some direction from the Board Panel in the course of the hearing.  I am not sure."

And so I am now asking for that, Madam Chair.  I'm asking for direction.  I don't want to hear about this in reply when we can't talk about it.  So I'm asking for the Board to direct the company to state their position on how their proposal is different from the one rejected by the Board in third generation IRM as proposed by Professor Yatchew.

That can be by way of undertaking.  That's fine.

MS. CHAPLIN:  You would like an answer to that question now, by undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, I thought Mr. Shepherd was asking for a direction that we address that in argument in-chief.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Not at all.

MR. VEGH:  So you're look -- so just to be clear, Mr. Shepherd is looking for a paper, I guess, on the difference between what Enersource is proposing in this application and how that differs from Mr. Yatchew's proposal of four, five years ago?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking, Madam Chair, for evidence, so that if my friend does want to raise it in argument in-chief, he'll have some basis for that.

MR. VEGH:  I have no idea what he's looking for.  Sorry, Madam Chair, I have no idea --


MS. CHAPLIN:  My understanding is that he is asking for a statement of the company's position with respect to a comparison of what it is requesting to what Professor Yatchew put forward in the third generation IRM process.

Is the company prepared to answer that question?

MR. VEGH:  If the Panel would find it helpful, we can -- the company would undertake to provide that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And Mr. Shepherd, am I -- I did not envision that the answer to your question would require a paper.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Yes, we'll take that undertaking.

MS. HELT:  J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  to PROVIDE COMPANY'S POSITION WITH RESPECT TO COMPARISON OF WHAT IT IS REQUESTING TO WHAT PROFESSOR YATCHEW PUT FORWARD IN THE THIRD GENERATION IRM PROCESS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now I want to turn to a new area.  You'll be happy to know that I'm no longer going to talk about 2014 at all.

I would like to talk, though, about how you compare your performance -- or how you assess your own performance.

Mr. Pastoric, I heard you this morning talking about how you assess your performance.  And indeed, you talked about it again just a few minutes ago.

One of the things you said is:  We don't use OM&A; we use total cost to assess performance; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  What I've stated is for this hearing.  We've done that comparison, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't --


MR. PASTORIC:  We take total cost into account in decisions, yes, but we don't do comparisons with other utilities as a matter of course of business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But when you look at the total cost of something --


MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for your internal decisions -- I'm not talking about in this hearing, I'm talking about for your internal decisions -- when you look at the total cost of something, how do you assess whether it's a reasonable cost or not?

MR. PASTORIC:  I think that's a pretty dynamic question -- or answer, essentially.  If we're rebuilding a -- no, but if you're looking at a feeder, you know, what's the magic time?  Is it two faults, is it three faults?  We look at customer minutes, we look at how many customers are impacted, which customers are impacted, we look at when it was placed into service.  If we take it out with IFRS now, we must take the asset out of commission and off of our books.

So there is a number of factors.  It's not just a single factor that we look at.  In our asset management I believe there's a number of factors that we've outlined.  I believe in the case of, if we have three faults on a feeder within 12 months, we'll change that feeder out.  We'll rebuild a section that we believe is the most susceptible.  So it's not exactly a one-to-one and easy answer for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that's talking about what to do, what things you have to do, whether capital or operating.  Same thing; right?

But there's two other questions, and that is, how much do you spend to do it; right?  How do you assess whether what you're planning to spend to do those things is reasonable?  So let's deal with that first.

MR. PASTORIC:  If you're asking if there's an equation, no, there's no equation for that.  There's a lot of engineering judgment and financial analysis that we do, but there's no one given situation.  Depends on the customer sensitivity and so forth in the area.

If it makes more labour sense to rebuild a subdivision because we're rebuilding the subdivision beside it due to labour costs or not moving our crews, it may be beneficial to do it at that time.  There's a number of factors.

So long-term lowest owning cost is our key thing here.  So from the point of view of looking at OM&A and capital, we look at what's the long-term lowest cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So first of all, your initial answer is still about what to do, not about how much spend to do it.  I'm now focusing on how much to spend to do it.

MR. PASTORIC:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do I understand correctly that every time you make a spending decision you assess what's the lowest lifetime cost?  Which decision will give us the lowest lifetime cost; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, no, I would say that we've talked about it even in some of your evidence that you've reproduced here.  There's a trade-off between OM&A and capital.  There's resource constraints.  There's financial constraints.  You talked about, we're looking for a rate increase.  Why?  Because we've invested the money and we want it returned.  Therefore we need the money to be able to do the things we do.

It's not a simple one-off that you say, I'm going to spend this or I'm going to rebuild it.  If I asked most of the engineers, they would like to, to be honest, rebuild the system so we have perfect reliability.  But there's a trade-off between costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so there's points at which you have to say no; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The engineers or others in the organization have a list.  Mr. Nunes has a list.  Right?  Here's how much money I want you to spend.  And you say, Okay.  We'll go down to here, and that's it, we're cutting you off there.  We're not going to do this other stuff.

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we'll add it up, and then usually we bring it back down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you have to draw a line somewhere.  You have to say, This is okay, this is not okay; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you draw that line how?

MR. MACUMBER:  Essentially I have to put together the business plan.  I have to put together financial statements.  I'd have to come up to, what is my net-income projection based on my throughput, my customers, what I'm spending it on, my reliability constraint.  What am I doing?  And if I can't come up with a reasonable net-income figure for the shareholder, something has to give.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that happens in IRM, but of course in cost of service that doesn't work, right, because in cost of service you get net income for the shareholder anyway.  It's part of the calculation; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I've been through this process.  We usually never get exactly what we're asking for, so, no, it doesn't work that way.  We add it up, we come in, we try to defend our case, and we leave with something usually lower than what we asked for.

So, no, I'd have to go back and do the same thing that I'm doing in a regular IRM process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are things you could cut then,  because you're assuming you're going to have to; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, what I'm assuming is, is that during this process I can't run the utility and spend the money that I want to because when I come into these things this is what happens.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If -- let's take a mundane example, a municipal substation.  How much does it cost to build a municipal substation, ballpark?

MR. MORRISON:  It depends on the substation, but we have one, Erin Mills municipal substation, that's going to be $4 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  4 million.  So you have a plan to build one for 4 million, let's say.  And you know you need it.  For sure you need it.  You've got subdivisions going in, you've got all sorts of stuff happening, new business, et cetera.  You know you need it.

And somebody at Hydro One Brampton says, You're going to spend 4 million?  We just built one identical for 2 million.  Is that relevant to you?

MR. PASTORIC:  I'm not sure why Brampton Hydro would be commenting on our station, and their circumstances may be completely different than us.  So I'm not sure where that leaves us.

Is there different ways to construct a station?  Yes.  Is there different locations?  Yes.  Are there different values of land?  Absolutely.

If you notice that we've had Churchill Meadows, we just put a capital contribution into Hydro One of $4 million.  After five years, if we haven't materialized the loading that is expected, we will either pay more or pay less.  They will give us a rebate depending on how load comes on.

So we have a connection agreement with them dealing with the contributions.  We have the same arrangement with our customers.  So if a load or a subdivision comes on, we look at the capital, and they may provide us with the capital contribution or not -- or I should say a building, not a subdivision -- depending on their loading.  It may be justified over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I'm sorry.  I probably didn't explain my question properly.  I'm trying to get at how you assess reasonableness if you have anecdotal evidence that your number's high.  You do talk to other utilities; right?  You know these people; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  We talk to utilities about safety matters and that.  I don't think we throw around that our stations are formally and their stations are 2 million because they're so different.  Even two customer substations will be completely different on the same street, because the characteristics and needs of those customers, so I'm not sure what the relevance is.

We go out for bids for transformers like everyone else.  Land costs are different in each municipality.  So I'm trying to understand why Brampton Hydro's circumstance or someone else third party to us would have a comment on our procedures.  I'm just trying to understand this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your answer to my question, presumably, is, in that situation you would simply ignore it.  You wouldn't look and see, Could we do it for -- is there a way we could do it for 2 million?  How are they doing it differently?  You wouldn't look at that.

MR. MACUMBER:  I think if ours was 4 million and Brampton could do the exact same thing for 2 million, and we knew that, we'd try to figure out why.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is not what Mr. Pastoric just said.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yeah, I think what he's saying is we don't compare.  But, I mean, if we sent somebody out and they could build a substation for 2 million, we would try to figure out why to see if we're -- is there something better that they're doing that we need to do.  But that would mean that we would need to find that information out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it is actually valid to compare what you're doing to other utilities, right, because you could learn something; right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would agree that if you look at other utilities, they have practices that we may try to adopt or do, and that's why in our evidence in-chief we try to show a total cost through throughput.  So that's our total cost that we're spending.

So when you're suggesting that it's 4 million and somebody else can do it for two, it would appear that we're doing it less than them.  It's costing us less to do the throughput than the other utilities.  So your scenario would have been -- it would have been them coming to us then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I didn't actually understand that.

Oh, you mean because your costs per unit throughput are lower, therefore you can't have a situation in which somebody else can do something cheaper than you can.

MR. MACUMBER:  I didn't say that we can't have one.  I would suggest that your scenario would imply that we're doing it better than other utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my scenario actually implies the opposite.  But you're saying that's not realistic --


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, my evidence would say that it would be the opposite.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, then I'm going to ask you to look at one thing, and that is on page -- page 23 of our materials.  This is School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 62.

And we provided you with a table, which starts at page 27, of annual distribution bills for all Ontario LDCs, and asked a series of questions on that, starting with:  Can you confirm the calculations we've done for your distribution bills for 2012?

Do you have that?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your answer on page 24 is:  Yes, you're right.  Your calculations for our distribution bills are correct; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe that's the answer, is yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then we asked:  Okay, well, what about -- why is it that you have higher rates than many other comparable utilities?  And we gave some examples.  PowerStream, London, Kitchener, Hydro One Brampton, EnWin, Burlington, Oakville.

And your answer on page 24 is, if I can paraphrase:  We don't know.  Is that a fair paraphrase?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we're suggesting is we can't confirm their numbers.  I mean, not only is it their rate base, the number of customers, their load, cost allocation.

I think there's too many variables to say:  Can I look at this information and compare it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going to come back to this table on Thursday morning, but I just want to ask sort of a general question about this.

You know, in the course of doing these rate cases, we've seen dozens and dozens of presentations to boards of directors by utility management on their rates.  Dozens.  Many, many, many.  I've never seen that did not include a comparison to other LDCs.  Not one.

You're saying you don't do those comparisons, and I don't understand why you're board of directors isn't saying:  Whoa, hang on.  How do we know your rates are fair?  How do we know they're reasonable if you don't give us any comparative information?

Does your Board never ask that?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PASTORIC:  I think our Board looks at us delivering our power safely and reliably, and they look at the satisfaction of our customers.

We have not brought them a -- a bill comparison of all the utilities in the province, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they've never asked?

MR. PASTORIC:  Not to my knowledge, but I've only been there four years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, this would be a good time to break if that's convenient for the Board.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Yes, we will break now until Thursday at 9:30.

MS. HELT:  Just to remind everyone that we are in the west hearing room on Thursday.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
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